ETH zürich

Polymer Biodegradability 2.0: A Holistic View on Polymer Biodegradation in Natural and Engineered Environments

Book Chapter

Author(s): Sander, Michael; Weber, Miriam; Lott, Christian; Zumstein, Michael; Künkel, Andreas; Battagliarin, Glauco

Publication date: 2023-10-21

Permanent link: https://doi.org/10.3929/ethz-b-000645790

Rights / license: Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International

Originally published in: Advances in Polymer Science, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/12_2023_163</u>

Polymer Biodegradability 2.0: A Holistic View on Polymer Biodegradation in Natural and Engineered Environments



Michael Sander, Miriam Weber, Christian Lott, Michael Zumstein, Andreas Künkel, and Glauco Battagliarin

Contents

- 1 Introduction
- 2 Definition of Polymer Biodegradability and Biodegradation
- 3 Process Elucidation of Polymer Biodegradation
 - 3.1 Steps in Polymer Biodegradation
 - 3.2 Factors Controlling Polymer Biodegradation
 - 3.3 Variation in Polymer Biodegradation Between Receiving Environments
- 4 Setups and Analytical Methods to Study Biodegradation and to Test Biodegradability of Polymers
 - 4.1 Laboratory Incubations
 - 4.2 Mesocosm and Field Studies
 - 4.3 Recent Analytical Advancements in the Assessment of Polymer Biodegradation
- 5 Standard Tests and Certifications for Polymer Biodegradability and Biodegradation
 - 5.1 Motivation for Testing
 - 5.2 Levels of Testing
 - 5.3 Status of Standard Test Methods and Specifications
 - 5.4 Certifications
- 6 Research Needs
 - 6.1 Variations in Polymer Biodegradation in and Across Different Receiving Environments
 - 6.2 Assessing Uncertainties Associated with the Transferability of Results of Polymer Biodegradability from Laboratory Tests to the Real in-situ Biodegradation in the Receiving Environment
 - 6.3 Identification of Key Degrading Enzymes and Microbial Degraders
 - 6.4 Microbial Metabolic Utilization of Plastic and Polymer Carbon
 - 6.5 Slowly Biodegrading Polymers

References

M. Sander (🖂)

Institute of Biogeochemistry and Pollutant Dynamics, Swiss Federal Institute of Technology (ETH) Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

e-mail: Michael.Sander@env.ethz.ch

Abstract Biodegradable polymers are an important part of the solution toolbox to achieve circularity in the plastic economy and overcome negative impacts of a linear plastic economy. Biodegradable polymers need to excel not only on a mechanical performance level in the application to fulfill their function during the use phase but also on a biodegradation performance level after use. The biodegradation performance is tailored to the application and the receiving environment of the polymer product after use, which can be both engineered systems (e.g., compost, anaerobic digestors, wastewater treatment plants) and natural systems (e.g., soils, freshwater, or marine environments). This chapter addresses key aspects of polymer biodegradability and biodegradation in both natural and engineered systems with the goal to advance a more holistic view on the topic and, thereby, provide guidance for all stakeholders working on developing, testing, and regulating biodegradable polymers. These aspects include definitions of biodegradability and biodegradation, elucidating polymer- and environmental factors that control the biodegradation process, a discussion of the analytical chemistry of polymer biodegradation, polymer biodegradability testing and certification, as well as a brief overview of research needs. In accordance with the diverse backgrounds of the authors of the chapter, this chapter targets all stakeholder groups from academics to industry and regulators.

Keywords Polymer biodegradation · Biodegradability · Mineralization · Biodegradable plastics · Bioplastic · Compostability

1 Introduction

Polymers – including structural polymers, on which this chapter focuses, and watersoluble polymers – play essential roles in our modern life and fulfill many important functions in diverse applications. For instance, structural polymers are used in consumer goods such as shoes and garments, in the transportation industry, in electronic goods and for hygienic packaging of our food. Water-soluble polymers are used widely in home and personal care products and in agricultural formulations. In all the above-mentioned applications, the polymers deliver a desired functionality at high efficiency and thereby contribute to the sustainability of the application.

The many unique benefits offered by using polymers are undisputed. Yet, academic and industrial researchers working on developing and applying polymers (and plastics composed thereof) face two major challenges: to establish circularity in the use of polymers (including preventing the accumulation of persistent (micro- and nano) plastics in the environment) and to become carbon neutral. Addressing these challenges requires research and innovation on polymers as well as new approaches in their use, all as part of a multiple "solution toolbox" [1–3]. The use of biodegradable and biobased polymers (both being part of the larger class of the so-called biopolymers) in specific applications is considered an integral part of this overall "solution toolbox" [4] (see also introduction of book).

Polymer Biodegradability 2.0: A Holistic View on Polymer Biodegradation...

There are numerous applications in which the use of biodegradable instead of non-biodegradable polymers offers benefits toward attaining circularity and preventing environmental plastic pollution [5, 6]. These applications include, but are not limited to, compostable plastics (e.g., compostable bags for collection of domestic biowaste) and agricultural plastics (e.g., soil-biodegradable mulch films) [4]. In the first case, compostable (and possibly also biobased) plastics enable organic waste recycling and closing the nutrient loop [7]. Austria and Italy are good examples for countries which successfully implemented waste management structures that include compostable bags (e.g., "Biosackerl" in Austria) to collect organic waste. Using compostable plastic bags is essential to allow collecting biowaste separately from the normal household waste and, at the same time, to reduce or even avoid contamination of the compost by conventional plastics that persist in the compost. The use of compostable polymers (and plastics) thus is a prerequisite to ensure a high quality of the final compost [8]. Among the agricultural applications using biodegradable polymers are mulch films that are placed onto soils to increase crop yields [9, 10]. Conventional mulch films are composed of non-biodegradable polyethylene (PE) and require a minimum thickness of at least 25 µm to ensure that they can be completely recollectable from the field after use. Thinner films would suffice to fulfill the needed mechanical performance of the films during the use phase but would impair complete recollection of the film after its use phase, resulting in soil contamination by residual PE film fragments. Following use in the field, the recollected PE films often contain crop and soil attachments which render recycling and reuse of these films difficult if not impossible, leaving only undesirable incineration or landfilling as disposal options. As compared to conventional PE films, soil-biodegradable mulch films composed of biodegradable polymers can be thinner, such as 15 µm, as they do not need to be recollected after use but instead are plowed into the soil to then undergo biodegradation. This practice also substantially lowers the end-of-life costs because biodegradable films - as opposed to conventional PE-based films - do not need to be recollected from the field, transported, and disposed of. The possibility to use thin biodegradable films (instead of thicker conventional films) comes with the additional benefit that less polymer material is needed for the mulch film application.

In specific applications (such as thin mulch films), the use of polymers that are biodegradable in the open environment is beneficial over the use of conventional, non-biodegradable polymers in that it helps to overcome environmental plastic pollution [4, 6]. Biodegradation as an end-of-life treatment is particularly warranted for applications in which complete recollection from the environment after use and/or reuse and recycling of the collected polymer material are not feasible. It was recently proposed to delineate three categories for such applications: (1) applications in which polymers (and plastics) are intentionally left in the environment after the application (i.e., seed coatings), (2) applications in which polymers (and plastics) are lost to the open environment through abrasion (e.g., paints and geotextiles), and (3) applications which have a high potential that the deployed polymer (and plastic) items are lost during (or after) use (e.g., certain fishing gear) [6].

Compostable bags and soil-biodegradable mulch films are only two of a larger number of applications [4, 6] in which biodegradable polymers are recognized as an important component of the overall "solution toolbox" by academics, industry, NGOs, and decision makers. These applications have in common that biodegradation is the targeted end-of-life scenario or the preferred scenario for polymers that unintentionally leak into the environment from specific applications [11, 12]. Consequently, decision makers and regulators rightly demand that biodegradation standard- and legislative support frameworks are based on stringent scientific evidence demonstrating that the polymers indeed undergo biodegradation. In essence, biodegradable polymers therefore must perform on two levels: on a "mechanical performance level" during processing and during the application (e.g., processability and tensile strength of the polymer) and on a "end-of-life biodegradation performance level," following the use phase.

Providing scientific proof for "end-of-life biodegradation performance" – and, thereby, to ensure the acceptance of biodegradable polymers by different stakeholder groups – requires a revised and extended approach of understanding and assessing polymer biodegradability and biodegradation in receiving environments. The latter include both engineered systems (e.g., anaerobic digestors, industrial and home composting, wastewater treatment plants) and natural environments (i.e., soils, marine, and freshwater systems).

This revised and extended approach of polymer biodegradability and biodegradation is critical to achieve three specific targets.

Target 1: Establish reliable and science-based laboratory testing systems to provide a clear framework for the development of biodegradable polymers.

The first target is to demonstrate, by experimental incubation tests, that a specific polymer material (or item made thereof) indeed biodegrades in the specific targeted receiving environment to a defined extent over a given time. This target is challenging to achieve given that biodegradation in almost all cases needs to be followed over incubation periods of several months and up to a few years, thereby requiring both extensive testing time and robust testing systems. Ideally, these test systems are designed to have incubation conditions that are representative of the conditions in the actual targeted receiving environment of the polymer. At the same time, the handling and control of the test systems need to be feasible. Furthermore, the system needs to allow for a continuous and direct monitoring of polymer biodegradation during the test period, as discussed in more detail below. For the certification of biodegradable polymers (and items made thereof), biodegradation standards need to define sufficiently stringent criteria that polymers passing the tests indeed biodegrade at desired rates in the actual receiving environment [13]. These criteria are also critical to prevent misuse of labels by helping to identify polymers or polymer technologies pro-oxidant additive (e.g., additives for conventional. non-biodegradable polymers) that do not fulfill the biodegradation criteria and therefore falsely claim polymer biodegradability [14-16]. Finally, standards with clear criteria set the boundaries for research on and innovation of future biodegradable polymers and provide guidance and boundaries for academic laboratories and industrial research and development.

Target 2: Align laboratory testing systems with real (in situ) environmental conditions.

The design of laboratory testing methods to determine polymer biodegradability (see Target 1) must be well-aligned with the conditions that prevail in the targeted receiving environment (e.g., engineered systems such as industrial composting or natural systems such as soils). This alignment is critical to ensure that results from laboratory tests adequately capture the "biodegradation performance" of the polymer also under real in situ conditions. The transferability of biodegradability results obtained in laboratory incubations to real in situ conditions in the actual receiving environment needs to be fulfilled for laboratory testing systems to be acceptable in standards and for certification in the long-term. This second target requests establishing separate laboratory testing systems for the different targeted receiving environment in terms of temperature, humidity, and anticipated residence time of the polymer in that system. Demonstrating transferability of biodegradation results from the laboratory to real in situ field systems currently is a central request by different stakeholders, including political decision makers.

Target 3: Ensure complete biodegradation of the polymer in the receiving environment.

Stringent and elaborate testing of polymer biodegradation in the laboratory needs to be complemented by efforts to demonstrate complete biodegradation of the polymer also in the receiving environment over a time frame that is acceptable by different stakeholders. This target is needed to ensure no formation of residual persistent polymer particles that accumulate in the receiving environment. Achieving this target includes the development of analytical methods to track biodegradation and the formation dynamics and continuous biodegradation of potentially forming micro- and nanometer-sized plastic fragments as intermediates in the biodegradation process.

To fulfill all the three above-defined targets, an extended approach (i.e., "Polymer biodegradability 2.0") is needed. This approach needs to be based on a fundamental understanding of polymer biodegradation in the targeted receiving environment.

In this chapter, we abide to the recently proposed concept that polymer biodegradability is a *system property* in that biodegradability depends on both the polymer material properties *and* the characteristics of the receiving environment [6]. This concept expands from the traditional view in which polymer biodegradability is considered primarily (and sometimes exclusively) a polymer material property. We also explicitly emphasize that the physicochemical properties of a biodegradable polymer that render it biodegradable are desired: intentional "designed to biodegrade" (i.e., biodegradation performance) fundamentally differs from "biodeterioration," a term that has often been used to describe undesired deterioration of a polymer by processes involving microorganisms. Because of the multifactorial material and environmental effects on polymer biodegradation rates, elucidating this process and developing new materials requires expertise from a multitude of research disciplines, including – but not limited to – polymer chemistry, environmental chemistry, and microbiology. This chapter summarizes fundamentals and key concepts of polymer biodegradation in engineered and natural systems. This chapter also briefly highlights recent advances in analytical approaches, testing approaches, and certification standards for polymer biodegradation. The goal is to help advance a more holistic view on polymer biodegradability in both natural and engineered systems and, thereby, provide guidance for all stakeholders of developing, testing, and regulating biodegradable polymers.

2 Definition of Polymer Biodegradability and Biodegradation

Stringent and clear definitions of polymer biodegradability and biodegradation are critical to advance our understanding of polymer biodegradation, testing and certifying polymer biodegradability and to clearly communicate these aspects. Conversely, the absence of concise definitions will result in misunderstandings and, more problematically, can even lead to false claims of polymer biodegradability and biodegradation.

We herein define "polymer biodegradation" as follows [6]:

Polymer biodegradation is the process by which microorganisms completely metabolize the organic carbon in the polymer under formation of carbon dioxide and microbial biomass, under oxic conditions, or carbon dioxide, methane, and microbial biomass, under anoxic conditions.

This definition holds true for polymer biodegradation both in engineered and natural systems. In fact, it applies not only to structural polymers (which are used to make plastics and which are at the focus of the discussion in this chapter) but also to non-structural, water-soluble polymers. For polymers containing organically bound heteroatoms (i.e., N, P, and S), these heteroatoms need to be converted to the respective inorganic salts or also be incorporated into microbial biomass during the biodegradation process. However, the major biodegradable polymers currently marketed are composed solely of C, H, and O (see below).

Based on the above definition, we can express polymer biodegradation as a simple reaction [17, 18]:

$$C_{\text{polymer}} \rightarrow C_{\text{CO2}} (+C_{\text{CH4}}) + C_{\text{microbial biomass}}$$
(1)

where $C_{polymer}$ is the organic carbon of the polymer (or polymers, in case of plastics composed of more than one), C_{CO2} and C_{CH4} is the polymer-derived carbon that has been metabolically converted by microorganisms to carbon dioxide and methane, respectively, and $C_{microbial \ biomass}$ is the polymer-derived carbon incorporated into microbial biomass (i.e., intracellular bio(macro)molecules such as building blocks of cells).

Conversion of $C_{polymer}$ to C_{CO2} is commonly referred to as "mineralization." The evolved CO_2 may either be formed directly from polymer carbon by respiration of

polymer-derived substrates or it may form from the mineralization of polymer carbon first incorporated into microbial biomass. The latter formation pathway reflects that microbial biomass containing polymer-derived carbon is itself a transient carbon pool: $C_{microbial biomass}$ in both alive and dead microbial cells can be reworked to C_{CO2} . Microbial necromass may also be reworked into the (non-living) natural organic matter pool in the specific receiving environment (e.g., soil organic matter in soils), from which mineralization may be slow. Polymer carbon conversion to CO_2 (and CH_4) and to microbial biomass is a desirable and acceptable biodegradation endpoint.

While Eq. 1 describes the "educts" and "products" of polymer biodegradation, it does not capture that polymer biodegradation is a time-dependent process. The latter can be accounted for by balancing polymer carbon at any time during the biodegradation according to Eq. 2:

$$\mathbf{C}_{\text{polymer}}(t) = \mathbf{C}_{\text{polymer}}(t_0) - \left[\mathbf{C}_{\text{CO2}}(t) + \mathbf{C}_{\text{microbial biomass}}(t)\right]$$
(2)

where $C_{polymer}(t)$ and $C_{polymer}(t_0)$ are the amounts of polymer carbon at time point *t* during the biodegradation process and at the onset of the biodegradation process t_0 , respectively, and $C_{CO2}(t)$ and $C_{microbial biomass}(t)$ are amounts of polymer-derived carbon mineralized to CO_2 and transferred into microbial biomass at time *t*, respectively. For simplicity, we here consider biodegradation only under oxic conditions and, therefore, omit CH₄ as a possible biodegradation product under anoxic conditions from the equations. Furthermore, we make the simplification in Eq. 2 that $C_{microbial biomass}$ does not undergo reprocessing over time (which is not the case).

Polymer biodegradation can be directly followed in laboratory incubations in which the conversion of $C_{polymer}$ to C_{CO2} is followed over time through respirometric analyses. Respirometric analyses are critical to verify biodegradation given that CO_2 is the final product of the biodegradation process under toxic conditions. We can therefore rearrange Eq. 2 for $C_{CO2}(t)$ to obtain Eq. 3:

$$C_{CO2}(t) = C_{polymer}(t_0) - C_{polymer}(t) - C_{microbial biomass}(t)$$
(3)

While respirometric analyses provide proof for polymer biodegradation, Eq. 3 highlights that these analyses provide no information on the relative importance of $C_{microbial\ biomass}(t)$ and residual $C_{polymer}(t)$ to the non-mineralized polymer carbon. The nature of the non-mineralized polymer carbon thus remains unknown when only using respirometric analyses. Significant formation of $C_{microbial\ biomass}$ would imply that respirometric analyses of C_{CO2} underestimate the actual extent of polymer biodegradation.

One common approach in standard test methods to account for the fact that polymer carbon may be incorporated into biomass (i.e., the formation of $C_{microbial biomass}$) is to express C_{CO2} formed in polymer biodegradation not in absolute terms (i.e., % of polymer carbon converted to CO_2) but instead relative to the C_{CO2} formed from a positive control – a known biodegradable reference (bio) polymer, such as

cellulose or polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHA) – run in parallel incubations in the same matrix (e.g., soil or sediment). Biodegradation of these positive control materials often shows plateauing mineralization extents at values smaller than 100%, with the "missing" non-mineralized carbon being ascribed to $C_{\text{microbial biomass}}$ formation.

Expressing the amounts of C_{CO2} formed from polymers relative to the amounts of C_{CO2} formed from positive control reference polymers during incubation assumes that microorganisms in the tested medium have a similar metabolic utilization pattern for substrates derived from the polymers of interest and from the positive control reference polymer. More specifically, it is assumed that microorganisms in the tested medium have comparable carbon use efficiencies (CUEs) (i.e., the ratio of substrate carbon incorporated into microbial biomass relative to the total substrate carbon taken up) for the substrate molecules from the polymer of interest and from the positive control. While this assumption may be valid, information on CUEs for polymer-derived substrates is currently missing. The CUEs of polymers are likely dependent not only on the chemistry of the polymer-derived molecules and their specific intracellular metabolic processing, but also on the rate at which polymer-derived substrates become available to microbial cells during the biodegradation process: low CUEs are expected when rates at which polymer-derived substrates become available to microbial cell are low given that the cell metabolism is then likely directed toward energy generation rather than biomass formation. Furthermore, extents of incorporation of polymer carbon into microbial biomass may strongly depend also on the availability of nitrogen and phosphorus as these are required for biomass buildup, as previously shown for natural substrates [19].

We note that new solvent extraction-based analytical approaches to quantify $C_{polymer}$ (*t*) over the course of incubations promise to help identify the nature of non-mineralized polymer carbon and, therefore, the extent to which polymer carbon is incorporated into microbial biomass (Sect. 4 below provides more information).

Equation 3 forms the basis for elucidating polymer biodegradation and testing polymer biodegradability, as detailed in Sects. 3–5 in this chapter. Biodegradation standards typically stipulate a high extent of mineralization of polymer carbon (commonly 90% of the carbon, either in absolute terms or relative to the extent of mineralization of a reference polymer, as discussed above) over a pre-defined incubation period. These incubation periods are specific to the product application of the tested biodegradable polymer and typically vary between weeks to months (e.g., for compostable polymers and plastics made thereof) and up to 2 years (e.g., for polymer biodegrading in natural systems, such as mulch films in agricultural soils).

Given the specific definition of "biodegradation," this term ought not to be used interchangeably with other terminology that describes alterations in the physicochemical properties of a polymer (or plastic) item, including "*degradation*," "*disintegration*," "*breakdown*," "*biodeterioration*," "*biotransformation*," and "*fragmentation*." While the latter processes may (all) be involved in polymer biodegradation (e.g., a biodegradable polymer or plastic may also undergo fragmentation into smaller particles during its biodegradation process), the term "biodegradation" is distinct from all others in that it stipulates that the entire polymer carbon is microbially converted to CO_2 (and CH_4) and microbial biomass.

In addition to the term "polymer *biodegradation*" that describes a process, the term "polymer biodegradability" is also commonly used. The latter term describes the propensity of a polymer (or, for a plastic, of the polymer(s) contained in the plastic) to undergo biodegradation in a specific receiving environment. As stated above, we herein adopt the view that biodegradability is a system property in that it depends both on the physicochemical properties of the polymer and on the abiotic and biotic conditions of the receiving environment in which polymer biodegradation is tested or occurs. Because conditions vary substantially between different engineered and natural systems (e.g., industrial compost vs. soils vs. freshwater systems vs. marine systems), certifications and labels of polymers being "biodegradable" ought to specify in and for which engineered or natural environment biodegradation was tested and certified (i.e., "industrially compostable," "soil biodegradable," "freshwater biodegradable," or "marine biodegradable") (see also Sect. 5 of this chapter). Defining the receiving environment for which polymer biodegradation has been certified is critical to overcome the common misconception of biodegradable polymers being "universally" biodegradable across all receiving environments (which may, however, be indeed the case for a few biodegradable polymers). Finally, complementing certification labels with information on the receiving environment does not imply that this polymer shows the same biodegradation rates within different types (e.g., types of soils or types of marine sediments) and habitats of the same receiving environment (e.g., beach, seafloor, and water column habitats in marine environments). Instead, a certified biodegradable polymer may show variations in biodegradation rates between different types of the same receiving environment or between habitats of the same receiving environment for which the certificate was issued.

We conclude the discussion of terminology with the term "*intrinsically biode-gradable*." This attribute has been proposed for polymers that have demonstrated extensive biodegradation in test systems that favor the biodegradation (e.g., elevated temperatures, controlled humidity, presence of nutrients). As such, "intrinsic biode-gradability" may be viewed as a material attribute and as a proof that the polymer can, in principle, be metabolically utilized by microorganisms. However, the term "*intrinsically biodegradable*" should not be misinterpreted to imply that the polymer is universally biodegradable across receiving environments – in fact, it may not biodegrade in environments with conditions disfavoring its biodegradation. Section 3 will summarize key polymer properties and environmental conditions that govern polymer biodegradability.

3 Process Elucidation of Polymer Biodegradation

3.1 Steps in Polymer Biodegradation

As defined in the previous subsection, polymer biodegradation refers to the process in which polymer carbon is metabolized by microorganisms for energy production under the formation of CO₂ (and CH₄) (catabolism) and for the formation of microbial biomass (anabolism). Therefore, the presence of microbial degraders in the polymer-receiving environment is central to biodegradation. The uptake of polymer-derived molecules into microbial cells and the intracellular processing of these molecules may, however, not be the rate-limiting steps of the overall biodegradation. Instead, the biodegradation rate in many engineered and natural systems is controlled by the rate at which the polymer breaks down into molecules sufficiently small for microbes to take the molecules up into their cells and metabolically use them as substrates [20, 21]. Molecules that can readily be taken up into microbial cells are expected to have an upper size limit in the range of 1,000 Da, a molecular weight that is substantially smaller than the typical molecular weights of polymers. Efficient breakdown of the polymer into small, microbially utilizable molecules separates biodegradable polymers from conventional polymers: while the latter may fragment into small particles - micro- and nanoplastics - these fragments persist and are not readily converted to organic molecules sufficiently small to be taken up by microorganisms. Consequently, degradation of conventional plastics commonly results in the formation of micro- and nanoplastics that accumulate in the environment. While biodegradation of biodegradable polymers may also involve fragmentation of the polymer into small polymer particles, these particles are only intermediates and continue to undergo biodegradation (possibly even at increasing rates given that the small polymer particles have higher surface-to-volume ratios than the original polymer specimen).

We herein describe polymer biodegradation as a two-step process (Fig. 1). The first step is the extensive breakdown of the macromolecular chains of the polymer into small (i.e., low-molecular-weight) organic molecules. For most commercial biodegradable polymers, this breakdown occurs by hydrolysis of hydrolyzable bonds in the polymer backbone. For some polymers, such as polylactic acid (PLA), hydrolysis is primarily abiotic and increases in rate with increasing temperature. Abiotic hydrolysis may not only be constrained to the polymer surface but also occur in the bulk phase of the polymer if water molecules diffuse into the polymer matrix. These polymers, abiotic breakdown is slow. Instead, breakdown of these polymers is catalyzed by extracellular enzymes that are secreted by microorganisms. Given that these enzymes have dimensions of a few nanometers, they cannot diffuse into the bulk phase of the polymers. Enzymatically mediated breakdown is therefore commonly restricted to the polymer surface, resulting in polymer "surface erosion" [22, 23].



Step 1: hydrolytic breakdown of polymer





Fig. 1 Schematic for the two central steps in the process of polymer biodegradation: breakdown of the polymer into low molecular weight products (step 1) and subsequent uptake and metabolic utilization of these breakdown products by microorganisms (step 2). Polymer breakdown in step 1 may occur abiotically and/or be mediated by extracellular microbial enzymes. The breakdown

For polymers requiring enzymatic catalysis in the breakdown, biodegradation rates and extents are controlled by the amount and activity of the respective enzymes in the specific environment in which biodegradation occurs. These enzymes are present in the receiving environment not because of an evolutionary response to the presence of biodegradable polymers but instead because the enzymes have evolved to catalyze the breakdown of natural biopolymers that have functional groups which are present also in the biodegradable polymer. For instance, cutinases have evolved to hydrolyze ester bonds in cutin, a wax-like polyester that forms a protective cover on the surfaces of plant leaves. These cutinases also hydrolyze ester bonds in the backbone of many synthetic polyesters [24]. Because the polymer-degrading enzymes are of microbial origin, enzymatic breakdown is expected to increase with increasing colonization of the polymer surface by microorganisms that secrete the respective enzymes.

It is because of the importance of enzymatic breakdown and microbial colonization that polymer biodegradation is oftentimes also referred to as a three-step process: microbial surface colonization is viewed as an additional step that is followed by the breakdown of the polymer chains and microbial utilization of breakdown products. Herein, we instead advocate viewing biodegradation as a two-step process in which the first step, polymer breakdown, may (or may not) involve microbial colonization of the polymer and enzymatic polymer breakdown. We favor this view of a two-step process because it is more universal. For example, microbial colonization is not a necessity if breakdown occurs abiotically or if the enzymes actively breaking down the polymer are secreted by microorganisms that have not colonized the polymer surface. Furthermore, the conceptual framework of a two-step process also applies to water-soluble polymers in that they may undergo enzymatically mediated breakdown but lack a rigid surface that can be colonized by microbial cells.

Most commercially important biodegradable polymers contain hydrolyzable bonds in their backbone. Polyesters dominate among the synthetic polymers, but hydrolytic breakdown and biodegradation have also been described for other polymers, including polyurethanes [25–27], polyamides [28, 29], and polycarbonates [30]. The hydrolyzable bonds in the polymer backbone can be considered "intended breaking points" to allow for step 1 of biodegradation. However, the mere presence of hydrolyzable bonds (e.g., ester bonds) in a polymer does not imply that it is biodegradable. This is showcased by polyethylene terephthalate (PET), a synthetic polyester. Enzymes that hydrolyze ester bonds in amorphous regions of PET have recently been identified [31–33] and are currently investigated for their potential use

Fig. 1 (continued) needs to result in molecules of sufficiently small size to be taken up into microbial cells. Inside the microbial cell, these molecules are metabolically utilized resulting in the formation of CO_2 and microbial biomass under aerobic conditions or CO_2 , CH_4 and microbial biomass under anaerobic, methanogenic conditions

in PET recycling [34]. Yet, enzymatic hydrolysis of crystalline domains in PET remains slow [35, 36]. Consequently, PET remains a non-biodegradable polymer.

Besides hydrolytic reactions, oxidations constitute a second class of (enzymatically mediated) reactions that may result in the breakdown of synthetic polymers. Oxidases occur naturally and are key in the breakdown of specific biopolymers in the natural environment: for instance, the breakdown of lignin is catalyzed by manganese peroxidases, hydroperoxidases, and laccases secreted by white-rot fungi [37-39]. However, compared to hydrolytic breakdown, oxidative breakdown of synthetic polymers is expected to have two principal limitations. The first limitation is that oxidases require dioxygen or activated oxygen species (such as hydrogen peroxide) as co-substrates. While these can be present under oxic conditions, they are absent in anoxic natural systems such as many aquatic sediments. Consequently, polymers relying on oxidative breakdown are expected to be stable in sub-oxic and anoxic systems. Such stability in anoxic systems is well known for the natural biopolymer lignin which undergoes oxidative breakdown: wooden Viking ships have been preserved for centuries in anoxic marine sediments. As compared to oxygen, water as the reaction agent in hydrolytic polymer breakdown is present in almost all natural environments (except for extremely dry (micro-) environments in which hydrolytic breakdown of a biodegradable polymer may be impaired). The second limitation of oxidative breakdown is that the oxidants in enzymatic oxidations, particularly highly reactive oxidants, react in a less directed manner as compared to water that selectively hydrolyzes specific bonds. Consequently, not all oxidations on a polymer structure are expected to result in backbone cleavage and polymer breakdown. Instead, additional follow-up reactions may be required to result in cleavage of the polymer backbone. These two principal challenges of oxidative breakdown likely explain why most synthetic biodegradable polymers rely on hydrolytic and not oxidative breakdown in step 1.

A critical assessment of oxidative polymer breakdown is particularly compulsory for the so-called pro-oxidant additive technologies (i.e., oxo-additives) that claim to render polyolefins biodegradable. Polyolefins persist in the environment because of the high stability of the carbon-carbon bonds in their backbone. The pro-oxidant additives contain complexed transition metals (i.e., typically stearates of Co, Fe, and Mn) [40, 41] and are added to polyolefins at a few weight percent. These transition metals are activated either thermally or photochemically by UV light and, in the presence of O_2 , trigger the formation of reactive oxygen species that attack the backbone carbon in polyolefins, ultimately leading to polyolefin fragmentation, scissions of their C-C bonds, introduction of oxygen functionality, and a decrease in the polymer molecular weight. However, for several reasons, there is broad consensus that such pro-oxidant additives fail to render polyolefins biodegradable in natural systems. First, a fundamental shortcoming of this technology is its dependence on the presence of O₂, rendering this technology ineffective under anoxic conditions that are present or even prevail in many natural environments (e.g., soils, water bodies and sediments). Second, (UV) light is absent from many natural systems, implying that there is no UV light activation of pro-oxidant additives in such systems. Furthermore, temperatures in the environment are much lower than those typically used in laboratory settings to demonstrate activation of the pro-oxidant additives. Therefore, pro-oxidant activation and polymer breakdown demonstrated under enhanced UV light irradiation and/or at elevated temperatures, as performed by companies marketing pro-oxidants, fall short of demonstrating that activation also adequately occurs in the natural environment. Activation under natural conditions has not been demonstrated, even if claimed in recent studies: activation of polyolefins containing metal additives under natural Florida irradiation conditions failed to address that these irradiance conditions are not globally representative nor disclosed that polymer specimen were mounted in a manner expected to result in artificially high weathering temperatures [42]. Thirdly, direct experimental evidence for biodegradation of pro-oxidant-activated polyolefins in any relevant environment and without artificial pre-treatment remains missing from the literature. In fact, several studies have shown that pro-oxidant containing polyolefins do not biodegrade even after extensive activation [15]. Based on these considerations, the scientific community and regulators in many countries agree that pro-oxidant additive technology do not render polyolefins biodegradable [16, 43]. This view has led to a ban of pro-oxidant technology in the European Union [44].

3.2 Factors Controlling Polymer Biodegradation

Polymer biodegradation is dependent on both the physicochemical properties of the biodegradable polymer (e.g., the presence of hydrolyzable bonds in the backbone of the polymer, the crystallinity of a polymer) and the abiotic and biotic conditions in the receiving environment (e.g., temperature, presence of specific microorganisms that secrete hydrolases that break down the polymer, presence of water, etc.) [6, 23]. These conditions are thus decisive in determining the extent to which the biodegradation potential of the polymer is leveraged. In the following, we will provide a brief overview of key polymer-dependent and environment-dependent factors that control polymer biodegradation in natural and engineered systems. These factors provide the basis on which biodegradation in different receiving environments can be compared and tested. We refer to reviews that also summarize the factors controlling polymer biodegradation [23, 45].

3.2.1 Polymer-Dependent Factors that Control Polymer Biodegradation

Polymer backbone chemistry. The backbone chemistry of the polymer is a key criterion determining its biodegradability. As alluded to above, most commercially important biodegradable polymers contain hydrolyzable bonds in their backbone. Figure 2 shows the structures of selected commercially important biodegradable polyesters as well as the hydrolytic reaction that leads to bond breaking in polyester backbones. These polymers include aliphatic and aliphatic-aromatic (co)polyesters (e.g., PLA, PBAT, PBA, PBS, PHA, PBSA, PCL) that undergo hydrolysis of the

a)



Poly (butylene succinate) (PBS)



Poly (butylene succinate-co-adipate) (PBSA)



Poly (butylene adipate-co-terephthalate) (PBAT)







Polylactic acid (PLA)

Polyhydroxyalkanoate (PHA) (here: polyhydroxybutyrate)

Polycaprolactone (PCL)



Cellulose (often positive control in biodegradation tests)

b)



Fig. 2 (a) Chemical structures of commercially important biodegradable polyesters (including aliphatic and aliphatic-aromatic co-polyesters) and of cellulose, which often is used as a positive control in polymer biodegradation tests. (b) Hydrolysis of an ester bond into a carboxylic acid and an alcohol during the initial step (i.e., breakdown) of polyester biodegradation. Hydrolysis can occur abiotically but is enzymatically mediated for many polyesters

ester bonds to form a carboxylic acid and an alcohol. Figure 2 also shows the chemical structure of cellulose, a natural biopolymer with glycosidic bonds that is commonly used as positive control in biodegradation tests. While polyesters dominate the market of biodegradable polymers, biodegradation has also been demonstrated for other hydrolyzable polymers, such as polyamides (i.e., Nylons) [28, 29, 46].

Polymer form and morphology. The rate of polymer breakdown in step 1 of biodegradation increases as the surface-to-volume ratio of the polymer increases, particularly when the breakdown is enzymatically catalyzed and thus constrained to the polymer surface [45, 47]. As a consequence, larger plastic particles or items composed of one or more biodegradable polymers may require extensive time periods to biodegrade due to their small surface-to-volume ratio. Fragmentation of these items into micro-and nanometer-sized particles during biodegradation may largely enhance biodegradation rates as the surface-to-volume ratio increases. This point is noteworthy given that the formation of micrometer-sized polymers and plastics (i.e., microplastics) is often considered a concern per se without considering the chemistry of the polymer [48]. However, while conventional non-biodegradable polymers form nano- and microplastic particles that are persistent and accumulate in the environment, micrometer-sized particles composed of biodegradable polymers are only of transient nature as the polymers continue to biodegrade to CO_2 (and CH_4) and microbial biomass.

For non-crystalline and semicrystalline polyesters, enzymatically mediated ester hydrolysis was reported to increase with decreasing glass transition temperature, T_g [49, 50]. Similarly, for semicrystalline polyesters, enzymatic hydrolyzability was found to be inversely correlated to the melting temperature, T_m [21, 51, 52]. Both dependencies reflect constrained mobility of polyester chains in glassy domains and microcrystalline lamellae, respectively, which impairs the formation of enzymesubstrate complexes and hence hydrolytic cleavage of the ester bond. The volume occupied by glassy domains in amorphous polymers and of crystallites in semicrystalline polymers depends not only on the polymer chemistry, the tacticity, and the molecular weight distribution of polymer chains, but also on the processing history of the polymer. The latter implies that the morphology of a polymer in a plastic product may differ from the morphology of the same polymer before it was processed. In such cases, it is mandatory to test the biodegradation of the actual plastic product and not (only) of the pure polymer(s) that are present therein.

Testing the biodegradability and assessing the biodegradation rates of actual plastic products instead of only the constituting polymer(s) is also warranted for plastics that contain significant amounts of additives or that contain more than one polymer (i.e., polymer blends). Both the presence of additives and polymer blending have been reported to affect plastic biodegradability [53, 54]. Blending may lead to enhanced biodegradation of the polymers in the blend as compared to only the individual polymers [54].

3.2.2 Environment-Dependent Factors that Control Polymer Biodegradation

Several abiotic and biotic environmental factors affect polymer biodegradation, including temperature, pH, humidity, oxygen and nutrient availability, and UV light irradiance as well as the abundance and activity of specific microbial degraders that secrete extracellular enzymes that catalyze polymer breakdown. These factors are often interdependent (e.g., microbial activity depends on temperature, pH, and humidity), resulting in multifactorial effects on polymer biodegradation. This interplay challenges any assessment of the relative importance of individual factors for polymer biodegradation, particularly when polymer biodegradation is determined in natural environments characterized by simultaneous spatiotemporal variations of several factors. Laboratory incubations under defined and controllable conditions provide a viable means to separately assess the importance of individual environmental factors (in addition to assessing the dependence of biodegradability on material properties, which is of key interest to the development of novel biodegradability able polymers).

Presence and activity of microbial degraders and their extracellular enzymes. Microorganisms are critical to polymer biodegradation as they take up the small organic molecules released during polymer breakdown and metabolically convert them to CO_2 (and CH_4) and microbial biomass. Furthermore, for biodegradable polymers that break down enzymatically, the presence of specific microorganisms is required that secrete these active enzymes.

The abundance of microorganisms expressing and secreting competent enzymes is strongly polymer-dependent. Microorganisms secreting extracellular enzymes to break down naturally occurring biopolymers, such as cellulose, are abundant across environments [55]. By comparison, microorganisms secreting enzymes active on synthetic biodegradable polymers may be much less abundant and typically require that the synthetic polymers have sufficient structural resemblance to the biopolymer that is the natural substrate for the secreted enzyme (see above example for cutinases). However, the environmental occurrence of microorganisms that secrete enzymes active on synthetic polymers does not imply that the polymer also biodegrades in the environment. An illustrative example is PET: while some microorganisms have been identified that secrete enzymes hydrolyzing the amorphous regions (but not the crystalline domains) in PET [31, 56], PET remains non-biodegradable in natural environments.

Temperature. Among the abiotic factors affecting polymer biodegradation, temperature is of key importance [57]. Over a wide range of temperatures in both natural and engineered system, increases in temperature will result in increase in the rates of biotic and abiotic chemical reactions that are involved in polymer biodegradation. However, polymer biodegradation rates are expected to increase only up to a temperature optimum in manipulated test systems. At temperatures above this optimum, biodegradation rates likely decrease, reflecting thermal inactivation of extracellular enzymes catalyzing polymer break down. This is because the microbial

community and their secreted enzymes in a given polymer-receiving environment are typically well adapted to the prevailing temperatures in that environment, including thermophiles (>45°C, e.g., found in industrial compost), mesophiles (i.e., 20–45°C; e.g., found in tropical soils and waters), and psychrotrophs and psychrophiles (<20°C; found in temperate and cold soil and water environments).

Temperature may affect polymer biodegradation rates also by altering the physical properties of the polymer. For instance, the enzymatic hydrolyzability of semicrystalline polyesters is expected to increase as the environmental temperature increases toward $T_{\rm m}$ [52, 58, 59]. Similarly, abiotic hydrolysis of specific polyesters is expected to increase with temperature due to increased water diffusion rates into the bulk polymer, as is well-established for polylactic acid, particularly at temperatures above its T_g of 60°C [60, 61].

For assessing polymer biodegradation rates, temperature therefore is a key parameter to be controlled. In laboratory incubation studies, the temperature is typically set to a constant value that is environmentally relevant, albeit in the upper end of the temperature range under real, in situ conditions (e.g., 20-25°C for biodegradation tests in soils). Incubations run at elevated temperatures have recently also been proposed as a viable means to determine biodegradation rates of polymers designed to undergo only slow biodegradation at ambient, environmentally relevant temperatures [62]. In the referred study, biodegradation rates increased with increasing incubation temperature according to the Arrhenius rate law, suggesting that rates measured at elevated incubation temperatures can be used to predict rates at lower temperature which may be challenging to determine experimentally [62]. However, because temperature affects polymer biodegradation rates in numerous ways (see above), more research is warranted to establish for which systems such rate predictions are applicable. Extrapolating rates measured from above certain temperature thresholds that lead to drastic changes in polymer morphology (e.g., from above the glass transition temperature that defines the transition from glassy to rubbery state of polymers) to environmental temperatures may lead to large errors in the predicted rates. Furthermore, care must be taken not to set precedence for studies that determine polymer biodegradation rates only at elevated temperatures without providing scientific data on how these rates can be extrapolated to lower, environmentally relevant temperatures. Non-linearity in the response of biodegradation rates with temperature also have implications for testing polymer biodegradability: it may not be advisable to use the mean annual temperature in incubations mimicking temperate climates if biodegradation rates scale non-linearly with temperature. In such cases, it is possible that biodegradation rates in incubations run at mean annual temperatures underestimate actual biodegradation rates in the open environment if biodegradation mainly occurs during the warm summer weeks to months.

Humidity, pH, and O_2 availability. The presence of water and dioxygen is critical for the biodegradation of polymers that undergo hydrolytic and oxidative breakdown, respectively. The activities of both microorganisms secreting these enzymes as well as the enzymes themselves have an optimal pH range above and below which their activities are expected to decrease. For polymers that release protons during hydrolytic breakdown, as is the case for polyesters, the buffer capacity of the medium surrounding the polymer (or within a biofilm growing on the polymer surface) may be important to prevent local acidification that may lead to decreased biodegradation rates. Like temperature, the microbial community in each specific receiving environment is expected to be well adapted to – and shaped by – the humidity, pH, and oxygen availability in that system.

Photoirradiation. Sunlight exposure of polymers is often believed to facilitate its biodegradation by triggering photochemical oxidation that ultimately lead to chain scission and thereby polymer breakdown into smaller units. This view may originate from numerous studies on photo-induced chemical degradation of polymers which also may involve the embrittlement of polymeric items and their subsequent fragmentation into smaller particles. However, photochemical effects on degradation were mainly reported for conventional polymers which, in the absence of light, show only very slow breakdown due to their high backbone stability. By comparison, the effects of photoirradiation on the breakdown of biodegradable polymers are less studied and understood. In fact, besides triggering polymer chain scission reactions, photoirradiation can also cause crosslinking reactions between individual polymer chains. Photochemical crosslinking has been reported, for instance, for PBAT and lowered its enzymatic hydrolyzability [63]. Such photochemical crosslinking can be eliminated through the addition of photostabilizers to PBAT-containing plastics, hydrolyzability thereby preserving enzymatic _ and thus likelv also biodegradability – of the PBAT even after prolonged exposure to sunlight. An additional point to consider is that only a fraction of polymers that are released to natural and engineered systems are light-exposed. For this reason, photochemical breakdown unlikely is a viable reaction pathway to render polymers universally biodegradable in the environment.

Nutrient availability. The availability of carbon (C), nitrogen (N), and phosphorus (P) controls the activity and metabolic substrate utilization patterns of microorganisms in both natural and engineered systems. Polymer biodegradation may be suppressed in environments with a high availability of labile naturally occurring carbon substrates. Similarly, microorganisms isolated in growth media containing a specific biodegradable polymer as the sole carbon source may instead preferentially utilize natural substrates as carbon source under real, in situ conditions in the respective natural or engineered environment from which the microorganisms were isolated.

In systems with limited availability of N and P, unfavorable nutrient stoichiometry is expected to constrain polymer biodegradation: the synthesis of extracellular enzymes involved in polymer breakdown as well as the incorporation of polymer carbon into microbial biomass requires N and P [9]. In fact, carbon use efficiencies of natural substrates, including biopolymers, decrease with increasing substrate C to N ratio [19]. Most of the commercially relevant biodegradable polymers do not contain N and P. Microorganisms growing on the carbon of these polymers therefore need to source N and P from the environment surrounding the polymer [57]. Limited N and P availability may lead to microorganisms accumulating polymer-derived carbon in biomolecules in intracellular storage compartments, as was recently suggested by NanoSIMS imaging of fungal cells growing on ¹³C-labelled PBAT films incubated in soils [20].

3.3 Variation in Polymer Biodegradation Between Receiving Environments

The previous subsection highlighted biotic and abiotic factors of polymer biodegradation in natural and engineered systems. Because these factors largely differ between polymer-receiving environments, the biodegradation of a specific polymer may vary substantially between these environments. These variations may also occur among environmental systems of the same type (e.g., among agricultural soils), spatially within a given system (e.g., between the open water, the sediment surface or inside the sediment within a marine system), as well as temporarily in a system (e.g., seasonal temperature fluctuations in natural environments). The resulting differences in biodegradation rates of a specific polymer between different environments have been accounted for, in a first step, in certification schemes for biodegradable polymers (and plastics composed thereof) that specify the environment for which biodegradation is attested (i.e., "soil biodegradable," "compostable", or "marine biodegradable"). This system-specific labelling of polymer biodegradation promises to help overcome the misconception that "biodegradable polymers" universally biodegrade across all environmental systems. A systematic compilation of biodegradability data of polymers in different systems (e.g., in form of a catalog) would be helpful to guide product developments for specific applications [6].

The important notion that polymer biodegradation is environment-specific does not exclude the possibility that specific biodegradable polymers biodegrade across natural and engineered systems. For instance, the biopolymers cellulose and polyhydroxyalkanoates are reported to biodegrade across marine, freshwater, soil, and composting environments [64–66]. Conversely, other biodegradable polymers such as PBS, PLA, and PBAT have so far mainly been shown to biodegrade only in a subset of systems, including compost and soils [4, 5]. However, recent studies provided evidence for the biodegradation of some of these polymers in additional environments (e.g., PBAT in marine systems) [67]. Clearly, systematic studies assessing the biodegradation performance of commercially important biodegradable polymers across receiving environments are warranted.

Due to the absence of benchmarking studies systematically comparing biodegradation of a set of polymers across natural and engineered environments, it is currently impossible to quantitatively rank polymer biodegradability among the receiving systems. Yet, based on the existing data, polymer biodegradation potential is generally high under industrial composting conditions and, albeit to a lower extent, in home composting. Biodegradation is typically slower in soils, freshwater, and marine environments. A clear communication is required in studies assessing the biodegradation of a certified biodegradable polymer in environments other than the one for which it was certified (e.g., biodegradation of a compostable polymer in a marine system) [68]. In such cases, the potential finding of insufficient biodegradation of the polymer in environments other than the ones for which it was certified biodegradable is ill-suited to call the certification (or the certified biodegradability of the tested product) into question. At the same time, there is significant scientific merit of assessing polymer biodegradable. Such studies would provide valuable information on biodegradation rates and thus lifetimes of polymers that reside in environments other than the one for which they were certified biodegradable.

4 Setups and Analytical Methods to Study Biodegradation and to Test Biodegradability of Polymers

The analytical chemistry of polymer biodegradation is important for various reasons: it is critical for the understanding and interpretation of the polymer biodegradation process, it provides the data required for certifying a polymer product as biodegradable for specific receiving environments (see Sect. 5), and it aids in the development of future polymers with desired biodegradation performance for the use in specific applications and targeted receiving environments. Furthermore, consensus on analytical methods and testing setups is required as they provide the basis for quality control standards that protect against methods and test schemes that fall short of providing compelling evidence for polymer biodegradation. This subchapter will summarize general experimental approaches and analytics established to follow polymer biodegradation and also highlight novel analytical techniques that promise to give new insights into the biodegradation process. Most of the analytical methods presented herein are used in laboratory incubation studies under well-controlled conditions. However, the subchapter will also refer to analytical methods for the assessment of polymer biodegradation in mesocosm experiments, as well as in the actual natural or engineered receiving environment (i.e., under real, in situ conditions, such as in agricultural soils, aquaculture, or industrial composting facilities). Data collected on the latter levels are particularly helpful for predicting biodegradation rates of biodegradable polymers in their receiving systems.

4.1 Laboratory Incubations

Polymer biodegradability is most often tested in laboratory systems in which the polymer is incubated in the selected media (or inoculum) of interest (e.g., compost,

soil, or sediment) [69]. Over the course of the incubation, the headspace in each flask is either discontinuously or continuously analyzed for the formation of polymerderived CO_2 (or depletion of O_2) under oxic incubation conditions (or CO_2 and CH_4 under anoxic incubation conditions). These respirometric analyses of formed CO_2 (and CH_4) are mandatory to demonstrate polymer biodegradation according to the above definition of biodegradation given that CO₂ (and CH₄) are the ultimate biodegradation endpoints (i.e., mineralization) (Eqs. 1-3). Other measurement endpoints besides respirometry – including visual disappearance, weight loss, decrease in surface area, and changes of material properties of a polymer – are indirect and thus provide no proof of biodegradation. Similarly, microscopy imaging of polymer surfaces showing colonization by microorganisms (i.e., the presence of a "plastisphere" [70]) provides no proof for polymer biodegradation because microbial colonization is well documented also for non-biodegradable, conventional polymers [71, 72]. Measurement endpoints that are complementary to respirometric analyses may, however, provide additional information and thereby help to attain a more detailed understanding of polymer biodegradation dynamics.

Laboratory incubation systems may either be *static* (i.e., the incubation flasks are closed and are opened only periodically for the analysis of formed CO₂ (and CH₄) and/or for the replenishment of consumed O_2) or *dynamic* (i.e., the headspace gas in the incubation flasks is continuously replaced by a gas stream through the flasks). Irrespective of the type of setup, one analytical challenge of measuring plastic mineralization is to distinguish the polymer-derived CO_2 (and CH_4) from CO_2 (and CH₄) formed by mineralization of naturally occurring organic material in the tested systems (e.g., soil organic matter in a soil). This challenge is typically addressed by running parallel control incubations containing the same environmental medium without added polymer (i.e., "blanks"). The amount of CO₂ (and CH₄) formed in these polymer-free controls is then subtracted from the amount formed in the actual incubation flasks containing both the polymer and the environmental medium. This subtraction relies on the assumption that the addition of polymer to the medium does not affect background mineralization of naturally occurring organic substrates. While this assumption likely is an acceptable approximation for most systems, changes in background mineralization of natural organic matter induced by the addition of a labile substrate are well documented as the so-called "priming effects" [73–75]. If significant priming occurs in response to polymer addition, it will result in uncertainties in the quantification of polymer carbon converted to CO₂ (and CH₄). These uncertainties can be overcome by extracting and quantifying residual polymer at the end of the incubation and/or by using polymers labelled with carbon stable (¹³C) or radioactive (¹⁴C) isotopes and by quantifying the formation of ¹³CO₂ or ¹⁴CO₂ (and ^{13/14}CH₄), as further detailed below.

Static systems typically quantify polymer mineralization by monitoring the cumulative amount of polymer carbon converted to CO_2 (and CH_4) and/or of oxygen consumed over time. There are three common approaches. In the first approach, discrete air samples are repeatedly withdrawn from the headspace of the closed incubation bottles, followed by quantifying the CO_2 (and CH_4) concentration(s) in

the withdrawn sample (e.g., by gas chromatography coupled to mass spectrometric detection). The second and third approaches rely on deploying a CO_2 trap in the incubation flasks (e.g., alkaline solutions or NaOH pellets that trap CO₂ as carbonate salts). The trap continuously removes the formed CO₂ from the headspace. In the second approach, the amount of trapped carbonate is regularly quantified. Alternatively, in the third approach, the pressure drop in the incubation flask is monitored. This drop results from the consumption of oxygen through polymer mineralization and trapping of the formed CO_2 . The use of CO_2 traps is, however, limited to incubations under oxic conditions as the traps do not capture CH₄ that may form in anoxic incubations. Furthermore, pressure drop measurements are incorrect if gases other than CO₂ form in the incubation flasks, such as N₂ through denitrification. Also, reactions that consume O_2 (e.g., nitrification reactions) can interfere with the measurements. The formation of any additional gases or the consumption of gases through reactions other than the mineralization would result in smaller or larger, respectively, net pressure drops and thus to underestimations or overestimations of the extent of polymer mineralization, respectively. In some cases, it may be advisable to use nitrification inhibitors. It is also important to keep in mind that mineralization in a static, closed system under oxic conditions results in continuous oxygen consumption. These systems may therefore need to be periodically opened to replenish O_2 in the headspace of the incubation flasks as oxygen depletion will influence microbial activity. Headspace O₂ concentrations can be independently monitored, e.g., by optodes, to identify the appropriate timepoint for O_2 replenishment.

In *dynamic systems*, the headspace in the incubation flasks is constantly exchanged with new gas and the concentration of CO₂ (and CH₄) in the effluent gas from the flasks is continuously quantified, typically by infra-red absorbance measurements [76] or gas chromatography coupled to a thermal conductivity detector (TCD). Therefore, in contrast to static systems, dynamic systems determine polymer mineralization rates which, upon integration over time and accounting for the volumetric gas flow rates through the system, yield cumulative amounts of polymer carbon mineralized. While dynamic systems require accurate control of volumetric gas flow rates through the bottles, they have the advantage over static systems that they minimize the risk of O_2 depletion in the incubation flasks. Dynamic systems may, however, encounter sensitivity problems for polymers with very slow mineralization rates given that the formed CO_2 (and CH_4) is continuously diluted in the gas stream that is delivered through the flasks. In such cases, the volumetric flow rates of the gases through the incubation flasks may need to be lowered to result in higher steady state CO₂ (and CH₄) concentration(s) (or static incubations become the preferred choice). Alternatively, it is possible to deliver CO_2 -free air to the incubators to increase sensitivity to CO_2 formed in the incubators.

Laboratory incubations provide the unique advantage of allowing to control and, if desired, vary incubation conditions while directly following polymer mineralization into CO_2 (and CH_4). Factors controlling biodegradation, such as temperature or humidity, can thus be systematically tested. At the same time, laboratory incubations are reductionist representations of the actual natural or engineered systems in which

polymer biodegradation will occur. Incubations in the laboratory are typically run under constant incubation conditions (e.g., temperature and humidity) whereas in situ conditions in the actual receiving environment may show substantial spatiotemporal variations (e.g., daily or seasonal temperature fluctuations, micro-scale heterogeneities). These differences in incubation conditions emphasize the need to establish the extent to which results from laboratory polymer biodegradation studies are transferrable to biodegradation of the same polymer under real, in situ conditions in the actual natural or engineered receiving system. In this context, it has been proposed to complement laboratory biodegradation studies with mesocosm and field biodegradation studies [77].

4.2 Mesocosm and Field Studies

Mesocosm studies are considered to help link results from laboratory incubations under well-controlled conditions to results from biodegradation studies under real, in situ conditions at the field scale. Mesocosms are larger in size than laboratory incubations and, thereby, are likely more representative subunits of the actual polymer-receiving environment. For instance, the rates of polymer biodegradation at the freshwater-sediment interface can be determined in mesocosm tank tests in which the water is repeatedly or continuously replaced, mimicking continuous water exchange under real, in situ conditions in lake, river, or marine settings. Similarly, soil mesocosms can be set up containing significantly more soil (i.e., tens to several hundred kg of soil) than used in laboratory incubations (typically 100 g to 1 kg of soil) and thus may better address spatial variations in polymer biodegradation in soils. Soil mesocosms can be set up to also have a vegetation cover and to be periodically irrigated, two boundary conditions representative of in-field soil incubations that are not readily implementable in laboratory incubations in small flasks. By contrast to laboratory and mesocosm incubations, field studies typically allow for no or only minimal control of the incubation conditions (e.g., temperatures or, for soils, soil water contents). Consequently, monitoring of the environmental conditions during the incubations is of special importance. In field studies, variations in conditions can be pronounced (e.g., diurnal and seasonal fluctuations in temperature and precipitation). A major advantage of field studies is that they allow assessing polymer biodegradation under real, in situ conditions. At the same time, field studies have the disadvantage that the few selected field study sites may not be representative of other receiving environments of the same type (e.g., agricultural soils) and that they are susceptible to weather events that may largely affect polymer biodegradation (e.g., two-year soil incubations in the field with an exceptionally cold and long winter or a very warm and dry summer may not be representative of typical winters and summers). It is therefore important to closely monitor key abiotic factors (i.e., temperature, moisture) during field incubations to help rationalize observed biodegradation rates.

Polymer Biodegradability 2.0: A Holistic View on Polymer Biodegradation...

Mesocosm and field studies are significantly more demanding in terms of infrastructure, space, maintenance, and costs than most laboratory studies. Furthermore, from an analytical perspective, a central "drawback" of mesocosm and particularly field incubations is that they are not "enclosed" and therefore cannot readily be coupled to respirometric analyses of polymer carbon mineralization to CO₂ (and CH_4). As a result, polymer biodegradation is typically assessed by indirect measurement parameters only. These include changes in the physicochemical properties of the polymer (e.g., decrease in tensile strength), gravimetric weight loss of the polymer over time, and determining polymer physical disintegration or visual disappearance (e.g., photographic analysis of residual polymer film area relative to the initial film area) [78]. Because these latter measurement endpoints provide only indirect, circumstantial evidence for polymer biodegradation, mesocosm and field incubations cannot replace laboratory incubations in which the mineralization of polymer carbon to CO_2 (and CH_4) is directly demonstrated. A tiered approach has been proposed in which mesocosm and field biodegradation tests are conducted only for those polymers (and plastics composed thereof) that have demonstrated environmental biodegradability in laboratory incubations. Furthermore, novel solvent extraction methods (see next subsection) allow to accurately quantify the residual polymer in mesocosm and field incubations and thus to overcome the analytical deficiencies of the above-mentioned indirect methods.

4.3 Recent Analytical Advancements in the Assessment of Polymer Biodegradation

Laboratory incubations coupled to respirometric analyses are central to establishing polymer biodegradability. Yet, these traditional incubations have a major shortcoming: they do not allow to determine (and thus delineate) the amount of polymercarbon incorporated into microbial biomass over the course of the incubations, nor the amount of residual non-mineralized polymer at the end of the incubations. Furthermore, the lack of analytical methods to quantify the total non-mineralized polymer-added carbon (i.e., which includes carbon incorporated into biomass (i.e., C_{microbial biomass} (t) in Eq. 3) and residual polymer carbon (i.e., C_{polymer} (t) in Eq. 3)) implies that it was previously impossible to demonstrate closed mass balances on the added polymer carbon over the course of incubations [79]. Closing mass balances is, however, desirable particularly for long-term incubations over several months to years. A reliable and direct determination of the amount of biomass formed from polymer carbon remains a major challenge and likely is possible only when using isotopically labelled polymers. Conversely, solvent extractions to quantify C_{polymer} (t) do not require the use of labelled polymer [80, 81]. The possibility to quantify C_{microbial biomass} (t) and/or C_{polymer} (t) is important to assess the true extent of biodegradation: while polymer carbon incorporated into microbial biomass is a desirable biodegradation outcome, the presence of residual polymer would imply that polymer biodegradation was incomplete. As described above, mesocosm and field studies were missing analytical methods to accurately quantify the decrease in residual polymer concentrations over the course of the incubations but instead relied on measurement endpoints that provided only indirect evidence for biodegradation. The following subsections summarize recent analytical advancements that overcome these shortcomings and, thereby, will eliminate existing interpretational ambiguities on polymer biodegradation in laboratory, mesocosm, and field experiments.

4.3.1 Stable-Carbon Isotope Labelling of Polymers

Early work demonstrated that using radiocarbon ¹⁴C-labelling allows to quantify the mineralization of minute amounts of compounds released from non-biodegradable polyethylene to ¹⁴CO₂ [82, 83]. The unique possibilities of using ¹³C-labelled polymers in biodegradation studies have only recently been advocated and demonstrated [84–86]. As compared to radiocarbon ¹⁴C-labelling, stable-isotope (¹³C)--labelling does not require radioisotope-specific safety measures, implying that there are no restrictions to work in assigned laboratory space and that it is possible to analyze samples on all instruments (and not only those that are specifically dedicated to the analysis of radioactive substances). The challenges of using ¹³C are the costs of labelling and the need for (costly) stable-carbon isotope-sensitive analytics. Consequently, we anticipate that the use of ¹³C-labelled polymers (or plastics composed thereof) in biodegradation studies will be restricted to selected model polymers in laboratory incubations.

Using ¹³C-labelled polymers has the unique advantage that polymer-derived ¹³C can be selectively tracked through the biodegradation process. By quantifying both ¹³CO₂ and ¹²CO₂ in the headspace or effluent gas of incubation bottles, mineralization of the polymer can be discriminated from the background mineralization of natural organic matter, given the different isotopic compositions of the polymers and the natural substrates. The selective quantification of polymer-derived ¹³CO₂ implies that the measurements are not susceptible to priming effects. Furthermore, for polymers containing more than one monomer unit, it is possible to synthesize ¹³C-labelled variants that carry the label in different monomer units. Separate incubations of these variants allow to demonstrate that carbon from all monomer units in the specific polymer undergoes microbial utilization (and thus that all building blocks biodegrade), as recently demonstrated in laboratory soil incubations for PBAT and PBS [20, 80].

Using ¹³C-labelled polymers further allows to quantify the total residual, non-mineralized polymer-added carbon left in the incubation flasks at the end of the incubation and, thereby, to close the polymer carbon mass balance over the course of the incubations. Closed mass balances on PBS carbon over the course of 425 days of soil incubations in the laboratory were recently demonstrated: at the end of these incubations, the non-mineralized PBS-¹³C remaining in the soil was quantified by combusting small soil aliquots in an elemental analyzer and quantifying the amount of formed ¹³CO₂ by isotope ratio mass spectrometric detection [80]. In

contrast, when incubating non-labelled polymers closing mass balances in this manner is impossible given that combustion-derived CO_2 from the polymers and soil organic matter cannot be differentiated.

The use of ¹³C-labelled polymers also allows to demonstrate the incorporation of polymer-derived carbon into microbial biomass, as recently done for ¹³C-labelled PBAT in soils [20]. Using nanoscale secondary ion mass spectrometry (Nano-SIMS), microbial cells growing on the surface of the PBAT films were shown to be enriched in PBAT-derived ¹³C [20]. A recent study used ¹³C-labelled PE to show that minute amounts of carbon from photo-irradiated PE were incorporated into the biomass of *Rhodococcus ruber*. This study demonstrated that ¹³C labelling is sufficiently sensitive to even demonstrate microbial utilization of carbon released from non-biodegradable polymers [87]. This finding, however, does not imply that the microbes biodegraded PE. Instead, the irradiation likely resulted in the formation of a minute amount of low-molecular-weight breakdown products in PE which, upon release from the PE into solution, were utilized by Rhodococcus ruber. This interpretation is supported by earlier studies with ¹⁴C-labelled PE [82, 83]. Future studies may use other isotope-sensitive spectromicroscopy techniques to image microorganisms on polymer surfaces, extract biomolecules to infer extent of ¹³C-incorporation into biomass (e.g., through analysis of ¹³C-labelled phospholipid fatty acids), and/or identify microbial degraders (e.g., through DNA-stable isotope probing) [88, 89].

Finally, using ¹³C-labelled polymers in biodegradation studies offers new possibilities in validating newly developed incubation setups and analytical methods (e.g., by demonstrating closed mass balances on polymer ¹³C) that may subsequently be used for incubations of non-labelled polymers. Method validation using ¹³C-labelled polymers is expected to be particularly helpful for incubations in media rich in background organic carbon, including compost and anaerobic digestate, given that ¹³C from polymers can be analytically differentiated from highly abundant ¹²C in the organic carbon background.

4.3.2 Quantification of Residual Polymer

Many biodegradable polyesters are soluble in chloroform, which opens the possibility to solvent-extract these polyesters from incubation matrices (e.g., soils or sediments). Two recent studies reported the accurate quantification of PBAT, PLA, and PBS in soils by using Soxhlet or accelerated solvent extraction of the polyesters into methanol-chloroform solvent mixtures, followed by the quantification of the extracted polyester(s) by quantitative proton nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy (q-¹H-NMR) [80, 81]. This approach likely is extendable to other chloroform-soluble biodegradable polyesters – such as polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHA), polycaprolactones (PCL), and other synthetic aliphatic and aliphatic-aromatic polyesters (e.g., PBA or PBSA) – as well as to solid matrices from receiving environments other than soils (e.g., lake or marine sediments and compost).

Applied to laboratory incubations, these solvent extraction-based methods allow to quantify residual polyesters in the incubation matrix, $C_{polymer}(t)$, over the course and/or at the end of incubations. When combined with respirometric analyses to quantify polymer mineralization to $C_{CO2}(t)$ and assuming closed mass balances on polymer carbon (which can be directly verified when using ¹³C-isotope labelled polymers), it is possible to indirectly assess the amount of polymer carbon incorporated into microbial biomass, $C_{biomass}(t)$ (i.e., $C_{biomass}(t) = C_{polymer}(t_0) - C_{polymer}(t) - C_{CO2}(t)$, see Eqs. 2 and 3). Furthermore, a quantification of both $C_{biomass}(t)$ and $C_{CO2}(t)$ allows to calculate the carbon use efficiencies (CUEs) for the polymers.

In mesocosm and field studies, these solvent extractions would allow to monitor the decrease in the concentration of biodegradable polymer(s) over time. Given the extraction efficiencies of polymers are shown to be close to (or ideally at) 100% – as achieved for PBAT, PLA, and PBS by spike-recovery experiments in soils [80, 81] – these extractions provide an accurate and direct determination of residual polymer and thus can be used to follow polymer biodegradation. For mesocosm and field incubations, the experimental setup may require that the tested polymer is first placed into a mesh bag to prevent physical loss. This bag then is deployed in the mesocosm or in the field to ensure that the sample and its content can be recollected in its entirety. This approach is well established for plant leaf decomposition studies and has recently been extended to polymer biodegradation studies in field soils [90]. However, the latter study placed only the polymer in the mesh bag (in addition to using visual inspection to determine residual polymer) and did not solvent-extract the residual polymer. Going forward, it may be advisable to also add soil (or the corresponding environmental matrix of interest) into the mesh bag to ensure close polymer-soil contact and to minimize potential loss of fine polymer fragments through the mesh upon retrieval of the sample. The mesh size thus needs to be chosen carefully to be sufficiently small to ensure that the polymer is retained but sufficiently large to allow for the exchange of water, nutrients, air, and microbes between the in- and outside of the mesh bag.

5 Standard Tests and Certifications for Polymer Biodegradability and Biodegradation

5.1 Motivation for Testing

Norms (and synonymously *standards* or *guidelines*) define methodologies to be used and outcomes to be achieved to claim polymer biodegradability. These norms are issued by national and international standardization institutions such as the European Committee for Standardization (CEN), ASTM International (formerly American Society for Testing and Materials), the International Organization for Standardization (ISO), or the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). Norms serve to achieve comparability and harmonization on polymer biodegradability testing on national and international levels and provide a basis for clear communication on experimental setups and methods used to test polymer biodegradability. Standard test methods aim to standardize test procedures, harmonize test conditions, and ensure reproducibility and comparability of test results between different testing laboratories. Standard specifications define methods and requirements that need to be fulfilled in order to comply with the standard (e.g., pass levels). Consequently, polymer biodegradability claims can be made only based on standard specifications and not solely on standard methods. We note that some countries' standardization institutes offer companies the option of paid-for (i.e. sponsored) standards. For instance, the British Standards Institution (BSI) specification PAS 9017:2020 is a sponsored specification which lists requirements that supposedly allow to claim biodegradability of pro-oxidant additive containing polyolefins in the terrestrial environment. This sponsored specification requests an artificial high-temperature or intense UV-light pre-treatment of the pro-oxidantcontaining polyolefin under conditions that are not environmentally representative, before the thereby generated polyolefin degradation products are submitted to a respirometer test in soil. Thus, this specification falls short of meeting the more stringent and scientifically-accepted requirements put forward by below-listed standards (e.g., from ISO and ASTM), including that biodegradability cannot be tested on a polymer material after it has been pre-treated at environmentally unrealistic high temperatures or UV light exposures. Instead, a polymer (or plastic) material that is released into the environment must undergo biodegradation 'as is' without any environmentally-unrealistic pretreatment that results in artificial polymer breakdown.

Certifications are issued by independent third parties after the proof of compliance of a polymer's biodegradability with the standard specifications [91]. In the absence of standard specifications, certification bodies can also define own certification schemes. Certificates are often awarded in the form of a *label* that can serve as a transparent and reliable means of communication for polymer biodegradability between businesses (B2B) or from business to consumers (B2C). Labelling itself is regulated in some countries to prevent misuse and false claims on the biodegradability of a polymer or a product.

Standards and certification schemes for biodegradable polymers and plastics have been originally developed to fill a gap left by the OECD guidelines for the testing of chemicals. More specifically, specifications for biodegradable polymers and plastics address several important aspects. The most important aspects are the *chemical characteristics* related to the chemical composition of the material that is tested for biodegradability and regulating the use of specific chemicals in these materials, e.g. heavy metals and additives, *biodegradation testing* which defines test conditions and pass requirements, *disintegration testing* which defines conditions and outcomes to claim that the tested item or product on the market will disintegrate at the end-oflife in the targeted receiving environment, e.g., disintegration of a compostable bag in industrial compositing, and *ecotoxicity testing* which ensures that no toxic metabolites form during biodegradation. While all aspects are equally important for the certification of biodegradable polymers and plastics, the next sections will focus solely on the aspects related to *biodegradation testing*.

5.2 Levels of Testing

Standardized laboratory biodegradation tests are used to demonstrate that the polymer (or a plastic item composed thereof) can be metabolized by microorganisms present in the sampled matrix used for the incubation. The matrix can be obtained from polymer-receiving engineered systems (e.g., compost or wastewater) or natural habitats (such as soils, freshwater, or the sea). The tests typically rely on the previously described respirometric methods and quantify the extent of mineralization of the test material to CO₂ (e.g., in ISO 14852) and/or the biological oxygen demand (BOD), i.e., the consumption of oxygen that results from aerobic respiration of the test specimen, such as in ISO 14851, both corrected for background CO₂ formation or BOD determined in blank incubations containing the sampled matrix but devoid of the polymer/plastic specimen. In standardized laboratory biodegradation test methods, incubation conditions often favor microbial activity. At the beginning of the test, sufficient nutrients may be added to the incubation to ensure that mineralization will not be impacted by nutrient limitations. Similarly, regular mixing of the matrix in the incubation flasks or the addition of coarser inert particles to the flask may be used to ensure that oxygen readily penetrates the matrix containing the test material. In addition, for technical reasons, concentrations of the test material in the incubations may exceed actual anticipated concentrations of the tested material in the field. Higher test material concentrations ensure an optimal signal-to-noise ratio in the quantification of mineralization, especially in tests with very active inoculums and thus high background mineralization/BOD, such as composting tests, e.g., ISO 14855.

Respirometry methods to assess the biodegradability of materials are preferred for technical and economic reasons. To claim biodegradability, standard requirements and certification schemes for biodegradable polymers typically request a high degree of mineralization (e.g. of 90%) of the polymer organic carbon to CO_2 (and CH_4) over time periods of several months (e.g., industrial compost) up to 2 years (e.g., soil). These extents of mineralization may be achieved either in absolute terms (i.e., $\geq 90\%$ of the added polymer carbon is mineralized to CO₂) or relative to a known biodegradable reference material. The latter often is cellulose which may show incomplete mineralization, i.e., a percentage smaller than 100% of the cellulose carbon is converted to CO₂. It is commonly assumed that the non-mineralized cellulose carbon is not present as residual cellulose but rather has been incorporated into the microbial biomass pool (e.g., cellulose mineralizes to 70%, the remaining 30% of non-mineralized cellulose carbon is considered incorporated into microbial biomass). In this case, a polymer or plastic material incubated in the same environmental matrix meets the requirement for being "biodegradable" if 63% of its carbon is mineralized to CO₂ (i.e., 90% of 70% for cellulose). The underlying assumption is

that the CUEs of the polymer and the biodegradable reference material are comparable. This assumption, however, has not been experimentally verified. The determination of CUEs for different biodegradable polymers is a research need, as detailed in Sect. 5. Any polymer carbon incorporated into microbial biomass contributes to polymer biodegradation but is not captured by mineralization measurements.

While standardized testing based on radiocarbon ¹⁴C-isotope labelling exists and would allow to close mass balance on polymer carbon (i.e., ASTM D6340 and D6692 for plastics – akin to other guidelines typically used for small molecules and not yet validated for polymers, such as OECD 307, 308, 309, and 314 for ¹⁴C), this approach is not routinely applied because of safety regulations for working with the ¹⁴C radioisotope as well as cost restrictions in labelling the polymer. As discussed above, ¹³C labelling of polymers was recently shown to allow closing mass balances in incubation studies [80]. For practicability, however, routine tests are conducted with unlabelled polymers. Determining an extensive formation of CO_2 (and CH_4), the gaseous end product(s) of biodegradation, is taken as a valid proof of biodegradability even if mass balances cannot be closed. Future studies and tests may consider complementing respirometric analyses with solvent extraction and quantification of potentially present residual polymers from the incubation flasks at the end of incubations, as described above.

Small-scale laboratory tests only partially reflect real conditions encountered in situ in the field. In addition, small-scale testing setups often do not allow the proper assessment of final test items at the end of the incubations, due to the limited size of the incubation vessels and the optimized laboratory conditions. Therefore, laboratory tests primarily provide information on the *biodegradability* of a polymer but currently do not allow to predict the actual biodegradation rates and extents in engineered or natural environments. To achieve the latter and overcome inherent deficits of laboratory tests, field, mesocosm and pilot tests have been developed. Field tests allow to monitor polymer and plastic biodegradation under real, in situ conditions. Indirect measurements of biodegradation are commonly used in such field tests such as polymer or plastic disintegration (e.g., ISO 22766 for the marine environment or UNI/PdR 79:2020 for composting) and weight loss of the tested material (ASTM D7473). Because these measurement endpoints are only indirect. the results from these tests need to be interpreted with caution. Also, these tests should be conducted only in combination with laboratory tests that provide the direct proof of polymer biodegradability. Yet, when using such indirect methods, efforts should be taken in designing the experiment to minimize measurement artifacts. For instance, the test specimen could be enclosed in a mesh to minimize loss of fragments, such as in ISO 22766 or UNI/PdR 79:2020. Future studies may employ solvent extraction-quantification approaches (as described above) which provide a quantitative measure of the residual polymer remaining at a given time point [81].

Field tests can provide specific biodegradation *rates* which can be used to model the lifetime of the tested material under specific environmental conditions [77]. *Mesocosm tests* (e.g., ASTM D7473) or *tank tests* (e.g., ISO 23832) can be seen as a methodological link between well-controlled laboratory tests and field

tests. Similarly, *pilot-scale tests* are used to simulate engineered environments, e.g., industrial composting conditions (ISO 16929).

Based on standard test methods and specifications and considering a balance between effort, cost, efficiency, and feasibility, the SAPEA report [6] described a hierarchical series of multi-tier and interactive testing schemes [92, 93] to assess the environmental fate and potential impact of biodegradable polymers and plastic materials in natural systems. Yet, systematic studies that compare the biodegradation of a given polymer or plastic item across the different test levels (laboratory, mesocosm, field) and that establish correlations between these levels are missing.

5.3 Status of Standard Test Methods and Specifications

The development of methods and specifications has constantly progressed in recent years, in parallel to the increase in the development and commercialization of biodegradable polymers and products. While several methods are already available for determining the biodegradability of different materials and items, specifications have been mainly developed for categories of products already present on the market. Standard methods and specifications have been especially targeting industrial composting as the intended end-of-life. For example, ISO 14855 is applied to investigate the biodegradability of plastic materials by respirometric methods under laboratory composting conditions and it is typically complemented by disintegration tests, such as ISO 20200 or ISO 16929. Specifications for industrial composting conditions and different categories of products have been developed, such as for plastics (ISO 17088, EN 14995, ASTM D6400), carrier bags (ISO 5412), and packaging (ISO 18606, EN 13432, ASTM D6868). These standards have in common that they define basic requirements for packaging and packaging materials to be considered biodegradable and compostable in industrial composting facilities. More recently developed standard methods address home composting (EN 17427) as intended end-of-life. These methods are similar to the ones for industrial composting testing, but testing is performed at lower temperatures (e.g., $25^{\circ}C \pm 5^{\circ}C$).

While biodegradability in *anaerobic digestion* is partially covered, e.g., in EN 13432 (with organic waste as inoculum) and in ISO 14853 (with sludge as inoculum), further developments of methods and specifications are currently under discussion. These methods and specifications are needed given the increasing importance of anaerobic digestion as dedicated end-of-life treatment.

Biodegradation in natural environments has been addressed in recent years, but there are only few specifications due to the limited number of products targeting these environments as intended end-of-life. ASTM D5988 and ISO 17556 testing methods describe laboratory incubations to assess the biodegradability of plastic materials in *soil* as inoculum. Standard specifications have been developed for the certification of soil-biodegradable mulch films (EN 17033 and ISO 23517). *Fresh water* testing is mainly covered by the standards ISO 14851 and 14852, for which different inocula can be utilized. Conversely, no standardized methods for polymers or plastic biodegradability are available for sediments from freshwater environments or the water-sediment interface, nor have specifications been developed so far for freshwater. More broadly covered is the *marine* environment with different zones, such as eulittoral, benthal and pelagic, and methods, ranging from lab testing to mesocosm and field tests (see references in Table 1). A standard specification for marine biodegradability testing in the laboratory has been published in 2020 at ISO level (ISO 22403).

For other relevant environmental systems into which biodegradable polymers and plastics may be transferred and which are not yet covered by standards, new biodegradation standards can be developed, or existing standards can be modified. One example for environments for which no standards exist are anoxic systems, i.e., with limited or no oxygen available such as muddy aquatic sediments. Ideally, appropriate standards for all relevant environmental compartments should be developed in a timely manner and be supported by collecting data on biodegradation performance in these compartments. This would aid in the development of novel polymers or blends with desirable biodegradation performances in these environmental compartments.

Substantial progress has been made in recent years on standard test methods and specifications. Yet, there are still gaps. For instance, numerous standards were developed for polymers and products that undergo comparatively fast biodegradation (weeks to months and up to 2 years). These standards are suitable for polymers and plastics in applications which require mechanical stability performance for rather short lifespans. There are, however, numerous applications in which the mechanical performance of a polymer is needed for a longer lifespan [94]. These applications need to be developed for these applications in which biodegradation needs to be slower to ensure that the product is stable for a sufficiently long time in the application e.g., up to 5 years.

5.4 Certifications

Registered biodegradable polymers are used in the production of biodegradable finished plastic products – e.g., bags and packaging – which then must be certified in the next step. Testing at an acknowledged test institute also serves to prevent that the plastic item contains non-conforming additives, such as problematic stabilizers, plasticizers, and inks. The certificate entitles its holder to use the regional label for biodegradable plastics on his packaging or article, in combination with a certification number. An overview of certifications and labels for industrially compostable products for different geographical regions is shown in Table 2. A description of the certification process and a list of certifiers is provided elsewhere [6, 91].

Table 1 Status of standards test methods and specifications for biodegradability and biodegradation in compost, soil, freshwater, and marine environments. Empty fields imply that an applicable standard is missing

		Standard test method			Standard speci- fications related to the environment	
Compost	Laboratory tests	ISO 14855-1			ISO 17088:2021	
	(biodegradation)	ISO 14855-2			EN 13432:2000-	
	Pilot-scale/field tests (disintegration)	ISO 16929:2021			12 ISO 5424:2022 ISO 5412:2022	
	Lab-scale tests (disintegration)	ISO 20200:2015				
Home compost	Laboratory tests (biodegradation)	ISO 14855-1			EN 17427:2022	
		ISO 14855-2				
	Field tests (disintegration)					
	Pilot-scale tests (disintegration)	EN 17428:2022				
Soil	Laboratory tests (biodegradation)	ASTM D5988- 2018			ISO 23517:2021 EN 17033:2018	
		ISO 17556:2019				
	Field tests					
	Lab-scale tests (disintegration)					
		Standard test method: pelagic zone (water column scenario)	Standard test method: benthic zone (seafloor scenario)	Standard test method: eulittoral zone (beach scenario)	Standard specification	
Freshwater	Laboratory tests	ISO 14851:2019				
	(biodegradation)	ISO 14852:2021				
		ISO 14853:2016 (anaerobic)				
	Field tests					
	Tank tests					
Marine	Laboratory tests	ASTM D6991- 2017 (Under revision by ASTM WK82370) ASTM D6692-		ASTM D7991-2022	ISO 22403: 2020 ASTM D7081:2015 (Under revision by ASTM WK75797)	
		2001 (With- drawn 2010)				

(continued)

Polymer Biodegradability 2.0: A Holistic View on Polymer Biodegradation...

	ISO 23977-1: 2020	ISO 18830: 2016	ISO 22404: 2019
	ISO 23977-2: 2020	ISO 19679: 2020	
Field tests	ISO 15314:2018	ISO 22766: 2020	ISO 22766: 2020
	ISO/CD 16636		
Tank tests		ASTM D7473-2012 (under revi- sion by ASTM WK71923)	
	ISO 23832:2021	ISO 23832: 2021	ISO 23832: 2021

Table 1 (continued)

6 Research Needs

This subchapter provides a perspective on research needs on specific aspects of polymer biodegradation and biodegradability in engineered and natural environments. The identified research needs to consider both fundamental and practical aspects of polymer biodegradability and biodegradation.

6.1 Variations in Polymer Biodegradation in and Across Different Receiving Environments

Most polymer and plastic biodegradation studies are conducted in laboratory incubations, including incubations in composts, soils, water, and sediments. However, laboratory incubation studies that assess the variations in the biodegradation rates and extents of a set of biodegradable polymers across members of the same receiving environment (e.g., different agricultural soils) as well as across different receiving environments (e.g., compost, soil, freshwater, and marine systems) remain scarce. Such systematic studies are warranted to provide information on the variability of biodegradation rates and extents within members of the same receiving environment (e.g., among soils) but also between different types of receiving environments (e.g., soils and lakes). This is particularly important for benchmarking biodegradability of a given polymer across potential receiving environments. While many applications of biodegradable polymers have targeted receiving environments, e.g., compostable bags in industrial compost or biodegradable mulch films in soils, it is of interest to test biodegradation in environments other than those targeted to provide information on biodegradation rates and hence residence times of these polymers or plastic items composed thereof in other environments. Two case examples for which this

m [95–99]	BPS	Japan	estites	GreenPLA certification scheme	
iked to the certification	BPI / USCC	USA		ASTM D 6400-04	
oducts and standards li	Jätelaito-syhdistys	Finland		EN 13432	
compostable pr	CIC	Italy	A SOLO SOLO	EN 13432	
oodies for industrially	TÜV AUSTRIA	Belgium	U.U.U. CONTRACT DATE OF CONTRACT MOUSTRACT	EN 13432	
ssued by certification l	DIN-Certco	Germany	**************************************	EN 13432 ASTM D 6400-04	
Table 2 Labels i	Organization	Location	Label	Standard	

	7	١.	
ι	ŕ	5	
ć	b	ς.	
		-	
	2		
	C	2	
	Ē	3	
	è	5	
	È	1	
	E	3	
	÷	1	
	č	5	
	2	5	
	č	4	
	÷	3	
	C	5	
1	÷	2	
	C	5	
	ď	2	
	\tilde{c}	1	
•	È		
	2	2	
	ì	4	
	3	3	
	٢	2	
	5	3	
	÷	2	
	٠	2	
	ς	2	
	٤		
	5	-	
,	2	3	
	ć	2	
	Ξ	2	
	ς	2	
	۲	4	
	¢	2,	
	٩	2	
	~	5	
	<u>,</u>	2	
	÷	2	
	۶	3	
	č	5.	
	2	Т	
	۶	5	
	۶	٢.	
	2		
	2	2	
	~	1	
•	ř	1	
	4	3	
	2	2	
	7	Ξ.	
	È	5	
•	-	-	
	۶		
	¥	4	
	U	0	
	á	Ĵ.	
	÷		
	2	5	
	ĉ	5	
	~	•	
	ŧ	5	
•	È	÷	
	5	3	
	2	2	
	Ē	1	
1	f	3	
	á	Ś	
	C	2	
	2	5	
	C	2	
	c	5	
	đ	5	
	Ē	2	
	2	5	
•	ŕ	1	
	U	3	
	đ	ŝ	
	ç	2	
	đ	ĭ	
Ċ	1	1	
	٩)	
	ć	5	
	ċ		
	-	-	

information can be relevant are, first, incompletely biodegraded compostable plastics that may be transferred with the compost to agricultural soils or, second, soilbiodegradable mulch films that may be transported by runoff from agricultural soils or wind erosion to an adjacent creek or lake. In fact, some recent studies addressed this research need by assessing biodegradation of plastics in freshwater and marine systems [67, 100]. Such tests on the biodegradability of polymer products in systems other than the primary receiving environment should be complemented by systematic studies on the probability of transport of the polymer products and its degradation products across boundaries of environmental compartments (e.g., from agricultural fields to adjacent lakes). Also, benchmarking biodegradability of existing biodegradable polymers across receiving environments will help in the design of novel polymer materials with desired biodegradation performances in specific receiving environments.

6.2 Assessing Uncertainties Associated with the Transferability of Results of Polymer Biodegradability from Laboratory Tests to the Real in-situ Biodegradation in the Receiving Environment

A central criticism of laboratory incubations is that their conditions only partly reflect conditions encountered in the actual natural or engineered receiving environment, raising concerns that laboratory biodegradation rates and extents have only limited predictive power for polymer biodegradation under real, in situ conditions in the field. To address this concern, studies are needed in which the biodegradation of selected polymers is quantified in the same receiving environment (i.e., an agricultural soil or at a water-sediment interface) but across incubation scales; in the laboratory, in mesocosms, and in the field. In such studies, polymer or plastic biodegradation may be followed using the same analytical methods on all three incubation scales, for instance by quantifying residual polymers over the course of the incubation using solvent extraction (see above). It is expected that polymer biodegradation rates are higher in laboratory tests that are run at incubation temperatures higher than those in the actual receiving environment. Conversely, biodegradation rates in laboratory incubations - particularly when run at small scales and for an extended time of months to a few years - may decrease if essential nutrients (e.g., N and P) become depleted. These limitations are less likely to arise in open, larger scale studies in mesocosms or in the field where nutrients and microorganisms can be replenished naturally. Determining uncertainties associated with extrapolating laboratory incubation results to biodegradation in the field is critical to accurately predict the lifetimes of biodegradable polymers and plastics under real in situ conditions in the actual receiving environment.

6.3 Identification of Key Degrading Enzymes and Microbial Degraders

Most commercially available biodegradable polymers undergo enzymatically mediated breakdown as the initial step of biodegradation. For synthetic polymers, it is likely that relatively few microbial degraders can secrete competent enzymes unlike enzymes that hydrolyze natural biopolymers which are likely to be expressed by a larger number of microorganisms. While extracellular enzymes hydrolyzing synthetic polyesters have been identified and purified, little is known on the number, activity, specificity, and identity of enzymes that are involved in the hydrolytic breakdown of polyesters in situ. The importance of enzymatic breakdown in the biodegradation of polymer and plastics is reflected in recent efforts to identify competent enzymes [101], develop high-throughput assays to screen for polyesterhydrolyzing enzymes [52, 102] as well as the use of metagenomics, metatranscriptomics, and metaproteomics to identify esterases and microorganisms involved in the biodegradation of synthetic polyesters [103].

Future work is needed using these approaches to characterize hydrolases involved in polymer breakdown in situ and identify potential restrictions on enzyme activities and expression and secretion levels (e.g., by limited N and P availability). Furthermore, the occurrence of specific enzymes ought to be linked to the organisms expressing these enzymes. Given that the enzymatic hydrolysis of polyesters often is the rate-determining step in polyester biodegradation, it is expected that rates of polymer biodegradation correlate with the abundance and activity of the enzymesecreting microorganisms. In contrast, biodegradation rates do not necessarily correlate with the microorganisms that incorporate most of the polyester's breakdown products into their biomass – as could be determined by DNA stable isotope probing (DNA-SIP) – nor do they correlate with the most abundant microorganisms colonizing the surfaces of biodegradable polymers and plastics.

6.4 Microbial Metabolic Utilization of Plastic and Polymer Carbon

Polymer or plastic biodegradation may involve a significant incorporation of polymer carbon into microbial biomass, $C_{microbial biomass}$ (see Eq. 1). However, routine laboratory testing of the biodegradability of polymer and plastic uses only respirometric analyses of polymer carbon mineralization into CO₂. Future studies are warranted that determine the carbon use efficiencies (CUEs) of polymer-derived carbon in different receiving environments. Determining CUEs is, for instance, possible by combining respirometric analyses of formed CO₂ (i.e., C_{CO2} in Eqs. 1–3) with solvent extractions and quantifications of residual polymer(s) from the incubation medium. The incorporation of polymer carbon into microbial biomass can then be calculated assuming closed mass balance (i.e., $C_{microbial biomass}$ $(t) = C_{polymer}(t_0) - C_{CO2}(t) - C_{polymer}(t)$; Eqs. 2 and 3). Under the assumption that C_{CO2} primarily stems from the catabolic utilization of polymer carbon (and not mineralization of $C_{microbial biomass}$), the carbon use efficiency can be estimated as $CUE = (C_{polymer}(t_0) - (C_{CO2}(t) + C_{polymer}(t)))/(C_{polymer}(t_0) - C_{polymer}(t))$.

The CUE values will help to constrain the extent to which respirometric analyses underestimate true polymer biodegradation in laboratory incubations. The degree of underestimation increases with increasing CUE. Furthermore, the CUE of the polymers can be compared to the CUEs of reference (bio)polymers used as positive biodegradation controls. The polymers and the reference (bio)polymers ought to have similar CUEs to substantiate the approach of expressing the final extents of mineralization of polymers relative to the mineralization extent of such positive reference biomolecules. Finally, information on how CUE values vary with plastic composition and changes in abiotic factors (e.g., nutrient availability) will provide guidance both in the development of novel biodegradable polymers and the optimization of conditions in the incubations (e.g., nutrient addition) that lead to higher CUEs (and thereby faster biodegradation of the polymers). These insights from laboratory incubations can then be transferred to real in situ conditions in the actual receiving environment.

6.5 Slowly Biodegrading Polymers

A major challenge when developing novel biodegradable polymers is to balance the two desired polymer performance levels: the mechanical performance level during processing and during the use-life of the application – which typically requires stability of the polymer – and the end-of-life biodegradation performance level, which requires that the polymer readily undergoes biodegradation after use. These two performance levels may be mutually exclusive in cases where mechanical performance and stability demands for a specific application are high and, at the same time, requested biodegradation times after the use of the polymer are short. One application in which these performance levels can be balanced are biodegradable mulch films with above-ground stability for up to several months during use and subsequently extensive biodegradation in soil over a period of 2 years after use. However, there are also potential applications of biodegradable polymers which demand long stability of the material during use (i.e., product stability over several years). Such applications may include, but are not limited to, polymer components in fishing gear as well as geotextiles deployed in the environment, for instance to stabilize slopes and inhibit soil erosion. The latter are commonly composed of conventional, non-biodegradable polymers which are expected to persist in the environment for decades to centuries given that they are not meant to be collected after use.

Future research efforts are needed on the development and testing of polymer materials that can be used in such applications and with reliable biodegradation performance over a few years. The testing of such materials is challenging because these polymers need to show slow, yet continuous biodegradation rates. Given the extended biodegradation times and hence increased lifetimes in the environment, molecular breakdown as the initial step of biodegradation needs to occur reliably and continuously to ensure that these materials indeed biodegrade and thus do not accumulate in the open environment.

The extended lifetimes are also a challenge for testing the biodegradation of these materials. The tests may be conducted under accelerated biodegradation conditions, such as slightly elevated temperatures (which is different from the above-discussed inappropriate thermal pre-conditioning of polymers at unrealistically high temperatures). In such cases, however, experimental evidence is required that the rates measured at higher temperatures can indeed be extrapolated to environmental conditions at lower temperatures (e.g., by establishing that the Arrhenius rate law applies to the biodegradation of these polymers). Extrapolations across threshold temperatures at which the polymers undergo significant changes (e.g., the glass transition temperature, T_{σ}) need careful assessment. These biodegradation tests also need to be complemented by appropriate certification schemes. From the regulatory side, stringent criteria are needed to define how data on biodegradation rates can be extrapolated and how associated uncertainties are statistically evaluated and documented. Periodic in situ monitoring of the biodegradation of these items after application is advisable to ensure that actual biodegradation rates match predicted rates.

References

- 1. SYSTEMIQ (2022) Reshaping plastics: pathways to a circular, climate neutral plastics system in Europe
- 2. World Economic Forum, E. M. F. a. M. C. (2016) The new plastics economy rethinking the future of plastics. https://ellenmacarthurfoundation.org/publications
- Mangold H, von Vacano B (2022) The Frontier of plastics recycling: rethinking waste as a resource for high-value applications. Macromol Chem Phys 223(13):2100488. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/macp.202100488
- 4. Bauchmüller V., Michael Carus, Chinthapalli R., Dammer L., Hark N., Partanen A., Ruiz P., Lajewski S. (2021) BioSinn, products for which biodegradation makes sense. nova-Institut für politische und ökologische Innovation GmbH. www.renewable-carbon.eu/publications
- Flury M, Narayan R (2021) Biodegradable plastic as an integral part of the solution to plastic waste pollution of the environment. Curr Opin Green Sustain Chem 30:100490. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cogsc.2021.100490
- Science Advice for Policy by European, A. Biodegradability of plastics in the open environment, Berlin, 2020. https://www.sapea.info/wp-content/uploads/bop-report.pdf. https://doi. org/10.26356/biodegradabilityplastics
- Künkel A, Becker J, Börger L, Hamprecht J, Koltzenburg S, Loos R, Schick MB, Schlegel K, Sinkel C, Skupin G et al. Polymers, biodegradable. In: Ullmann's encyclopedia of industrial chemistry, pp 1–29
- Kern M, Neumann F, Siepenkothen H-J, Turk T, Löder M (2020) Plastics in compost, practical tests to determine the polymer affiliation. Müll und Abfall 5. https://doi.org/10.37307/j.1863-9763.2020.05.05

Polymer Biodegradability 2.0: A Holistic View on Polymer Biodegradation...

- Sander M (2019) Biodegradation of polymeric mulch films in agricultural soils: concepts, knowledge gaps, and future research directions. Environ Sci Technol 53(5):2304–2315. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b05208
- Bandopadhyay S, Martin-Closas L, Pelacho AM, DeBruyn JM (2018) Biodegradable plastic Mulch films: impacts on soil microbial communities and ecosystem functions. Front Microbiol 9., Mini Review. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.00819
- 11. Gross RA, Kalra B (2002) Biodegradable polymers for the environment. Science 297 (5582):803–807. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.297.5582.803
- 12. Albertsson AC, Hakkarainen M (2017) Designed to degrade. Science 358(6365):872–873. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aap8115
- European C; Directorate-General for, E.; Watson D, Kaarsberg S, Bauer B (2022) Synopsis report on the consultation on the policy framework on biobased, bio-degradable and compostable plastic; Publications Office of the European Union. https://doi.org/10.2779/126536
- Roy PK, Hakkarainen M, Varma IK, Albertsson AC (2011) Degradable polyethylene: fantasy or reality. Environ Sci Technol 45(10):4217–4227. https://doi.org/10.1021/es104042f
- Selke S, Auras R, Nguyen TA, Castro Aguirre E, Cheruvathur R, Liu Y (2015) Evaluation of biodegradation-promoting additives for plastics. Environ Sci Technol 49(6):3769–3777. https://doi.org/10.1021/es504258u
- Sciscione F, Hailes HC, Miodownik M (2023) The performance and environmental impact of pro-oxidant additive containing plastics in the open unmanaged environment—A review of the evidence. R Soc Open Sci 10(5):230089. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsos.230089
- 17. Swift G (1993) Directions for environmentally biodegradable polymer research. Acc Chem Res 26(3):105–110. https://doi.org/10.1021/ar00027a005
- Swift G (1994) Biodegradable polymers in the environment: are they really biodegradable? In: Gebelein CG, Carraher CE (eds) Biotechnology and bioactive polymers. Springer, pp 161–168
- Sinsabaugh RL, Turner BL, Talbot JM, Waring BG, Powers JS, Kuske CR, Moorhead DL, Shah JJF (2016) Stoichiometry of microbial carbon use efficiency in soils. Ecological monographs 86(2):172–189. Acccessed 6 May 2023
- Zumstein MT, Schintlmeister A, Nelson TF, Baumgartner R, Woebken D, Wagner M, Kohler HE, McNeill K, Sander M (2018) Biodegradation of synthetic polymers in soils: tracking carbon into CO(2) and microbial biomass. Sci Adv 4(7):eaas9024. https://doi.org/10.1126/ sciadv.aas9024
- Mueller R-J (2006) Biological degradation of synthetic polyesters enzymes as potential catalysts for polyester recycling. Process Biochem 41(10):2124–2128. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.procbio.2006.05.018
- von Burkersroda F, Schedl L, Gopferich A (2002) Why degradable polymers undergo surface erosion or bulk erosion. Biomaterials 23(21):4221–4231. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0142-9612 (02)00170-9
- Haider TP, Volker C, Kramm J, Landfester K, Wurm FR (2019) Plastics of the future? The impact of biodegradable polymers on the environment and on society. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 58(1):50–62. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201805766
- Baker PJ, Poultney C, Liu Z, Gross R, Montclare JK (2012) Identification and comparison of cutinases for synthetic polyester degradation. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 93(1):229–240. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-011-3402-4
- Chen CC, Dai L, Ma L, Guo RT (2020) Enzymatic degradation of plant biomass and synthetic polymers. Nat Rev Chem 4(3):114–126. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41570-020-0163-6
- 26. Pfohl P, Bahl D, Ruckel M, Wagner M, Meyer L, Bolduan P, Battagliarin G, Huffer T, Zumstein M, Hofmann T et al (2022) Effect of polymer properties on the biodegradation of polyurethane microplastics. Environ Sci Technol 56(23):16873–16884. https://doi.org/10. 1021/acs.est.2c05602
- Gunawan NR, Tessman M, Schreiman AC, Simkovsky R, Samoylov AA, Neelakantan NK, Bemis TA, Burkart MD, Pomeroy RS, Mayfield SP (2020) Rapid biodegradation of renewable polyurethane foams with identification of associated microorganisms and decomposition products. Bioresour Technol Rep 11:100513. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biteb.2020.100513

- Kawasaki N, Nakayama A, Yamano N, Takeda S, Kawata Y, Yamamoto N, Aiba S-I (2005) Synthesis, thermal and mechanical properties and biodegradation of branched polyamide 4. Polymer 46(23):9987–9993. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymer.2005.06.092
- Nabeoka R, Suzuki H, Akasaka Y, Ando N, Yoshida T (2021) Evaluating the ready biodegradability of biodegradable plastics. Environ Toxicol Chem 40(9):2443–2449. https://doi. org/10.1002/etc.5116
- Artham T, Doble M (2008) Biodegradation of aliphatic and aromatic polycarbonates. Macromol Biosci 8(1):14–24. https://doi.org/10.1002/mabi.200700106
- Yoshida S, Hiraga K, Takehana T, Taniguchi I, Yamaji H, Maeda Y, Toyohara K, Miyamoto K, Kimura Y, Oda K (2016) A bacterium that degrades and assimilates poly(ethylene terephthalate). Science 351(6278):1196–1199. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aad6359
- 32. Ronkvist ÅM, Xie W, Lu W, Gross RA (2009) Cutinase-catalyzed hydrolysis of poly(ethylene terephthalate). Macromolecules 42(14):5128–5138. https://doi.org/10.1021/ma9005318
- 33. Herrero Acero E, Ribitsch D, Steinkellner G, Gruber K, Greimel K, Eiteljoerg I, Trotscha E, Wei R, Zimmermann W, Zinn M et al (2011) Enzymatic surface hydrolysis of PET: effect of structural diversity on kinetic properties of cutinases from thermobifida. Macromolecules 44 (12):4632–4640. https://doi.org/10.1021/ma200949p
- 34. Tournier V, Topham CM, Gilles A, David B, Folgoas C, Moya-Leclair E, Kamionka E, Desrousseaux ML, Texier H, Gavalda S et al (2020) An engineered PET depolymerase to break down and recycle plastic bottles. Nature 580(7802):216–219. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41586-020-2149-4
- 35. Yang Y, Yang J, Jiang L (2016) Comment on "A bacterium that degrades and assimilates poly (ethylene terephthalate)". Science 353(6301):759–759. https://doi.org/10.1126/science. aaf8305
- Vertommen MAME, Nierstrasz VA, van der Veer M, Warmoeskerken MMCG (2005) Enzymatic surface modification of poly(ethylene terephthalate). J Biotechnol 120(4):376–386. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2005.06.015
- 37. Hofrichter M (2002) Review: lignin conversion by manganese peroxidase (MnP). Enzyme Microb Technol 30(4):454–466. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0141-0229(01)00528-2
- Hatakka A (1994) Lignin-modifying enzymes from selected white-rot fungi: production and role from in lignin degradation. FEMS Microbiol Rev 13(2):125–135
- 39. Tien M, Kirk TK (1983) Lignin-degrading enzyme from the hymenomycete *Phanerochaete chrysosporium* burds. Science 221(4611):661–663. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.221.4611. 661
- 40. Weiland M, Daro A, David C (1995) Biodegradation of thermally oxidized polyethylene. Polym Degrad Stab 48(2):275–289. https://doi.org/10.1016/0141-3910(95)00040-S
- 41. Jakubowicz I (2003) Evaluation of degradability of biodegradable polyethylene (PE). Polym Degrad Stab 80(1):39–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0141-3910(02)00380-4
- 42. Hill G, Moreira C, Huynh F, Trufasila A, Ly F, Lloyd R, Sawal H, Wallis CJ (2021) Correlation of a temperate UV-weathering cycle to outdoor exposure for the determination of the environmental instability of polyethylene films using HT-GPC analysis. Polymers (Basel) 13(4). https://doi.org/10.3390/polym13040591
- 43. Commission, E. (2018) Report from the Commission to the European Parliament and the Council on the impact of the use of oxo-degradable plastic, including oxo-degradable plastic carrier bags, on the environment; COM(2018) 35 final; European Commission, Brussels
- 44. UNION, T. E. P. A. T. C. O. T. E. (2019) Directive (EU) 2019/904 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 5 June 2019 on the reduction of the impact of certain plastic products on the environment EU, Ed.
- Laycock B, Nikolić M, Colwell JM, Gauthier E, Halley P, Bottle S, George G (2017) Lifetime prediction of biodegradable polymers. Prog Polym Sci 71:144–189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. progpolymsci.2017.02.004

- 46. Tachibana K, Urano Y, Numata K (2013) Biodegradability of nylon 4 film in a marine environment. Polym Degrad Stab 98(9):1847–1851. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. polymdegradstab.2013.05.007
- Chinaglia S, Tosin M, Degli-Innocenti F (2018) Biodegradation rate of biodegradable plastics at molecular level. Polym Degrad Stab 147:237–244. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. polymdegradstab.2017.12.011
- Wei X-F, Bohlén M, Lindblad C, Hedenqvist M, Hakonen A (2021) Microplastics generated from a biodegradable plastic in freshwater and seawater. Water Res 198:117123. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.watres.2021.117123
- 49. Thomsen TB, Hunt CJ, Meyer AS (2022) Influence of substrate crystallinity and glass transition temperature on enzymatic degradation of polyethylene terephthalate (PET). N Biotechnol 69:28–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbt.2022.02.006
- 50. Wei R, Breite D, Song C, Gräsing D, Ploss T, Hille P, Schwerdtfeger R, Matysik J, Schulze A, Zimmermann W (2019) Biocatalytic degradation efficiency of postconsumer polyethylene terephthalate packaging determined by their polymer microstructures. Adv Sci 6(14):1900491. https://doi.org/10.1002/advs.201900491
- 51. El-Hadi A, Schnabel R, Straube E, Müller G, Henning S (2002) Correlation between degree of crystallinity, morphology, glass temperature, mechanical properties and biodegradation of poly (3-hydroxyalkanoate) PHAs and their blends. Polym Test 21(6):665–674. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0142-9418(01)00142-8
- 52. Zumstein MT, Kohler H-PE, McNeill K, Sander M (2017) High-throughput analysis of enzymatic hydrolysis of biodegradable polyesters by monitoring cohydrolysis of a polyester-embedded fluorogenic probe. Environ Sci Technol 51(8):4358–4367. https://doi.org/10. 1021/acs.est.6b06060
- 53. Eberl A, Heumann S, Brückner T, Araujo R, Cavaco-Paulo A, Kaufmann F, Kroutil W, Guebitz GM (2009) Enzymatic surface hydrolysis of poly(ethylene terephthalate) and bis (benzoyloxyethyl) terephthalate by lipase and cutinase in the presence of surface active molecules. J Biotechnol 143(3):207–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2009.07.008
- 54. Narancic T, Verstichel S, Reddy Chaganti S, Morales-Gamez L, Kenny ST, De Wilde B, Babu Padamati R, O'Connor KE (2018) Biodegradable plastic blends create new possibilities for end-of-life management of plastics but they are not a panacea for plastic pollution. Environ Sci Technol 52(18):10441–10452. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b02963
- Béguin P (1990) Molecular biology of celluose degradation. Annu Rev Microbiol 44(1):219– 248. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.mi.44.100190.001251
- 56. Taniguchi I, Yoshida S, Hiraga K, Miyamoto K, Kimura Y, Oda K (2019) Biodegradation of PET: current status and application aspects. ACS Catal 9(5):4089–4105. https://doi.org/10. 1021/acscatal.8b05171
- 57. Hoshino A, Sawada H, Yokota M, Tsuji M, Fukuda K, Kimura M (2001) Influence of weather conditions and soil properties on degradation of biodegradable plastics in soil. Soil Sci Plant Nutr 47(1):35–43. https://doi.org/10.1080/00380768.2001.10408366
- Marten E, Müller R-J, Deckwer W-D (2003) Studies on the enzymatic hydrolysis of polyesters I. Low molecular mass model esters and aliphatic polyesters. Polym Degrad Stab 80(3):485– 501. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0141-3910(03)00032-6
- Tokiwa Y, Ando T, Suzuki T, Takeda K (1990) Biodegradation of synthetic polymers containing ester bonds. In: Agricultural and synthetic polymers, ACS symposium series, vol 433. American Chemical Society, pp 136–148
- 60. Gorrasi G, Pantani R (2018) Hydrolysis and biodegradation of poly(lactic acid). In: Di Lorenzo ML, Androsch R (eds) Synthesis, structure and properties of poly(lactic acid). Springer, pp 119–151
- Aso Y, Yoshioka S, Li Wan Po A, Terao T (1994) Effect of temperature on mechanisms of drug release and matrix degradation of poly(d,l-lactide) microspheres. J Control Release 31 (1):33–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/0168-3659(94)90248-8

- Pischedda A, Tosin M, Degli-Innocenti F (2019) Biodegradation of plastics in soil: the effect of temperature. Polym Degrad Stab 170:109017. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymdegradstab. 2019.109017
- 63. De Hoe GX, Zumstein MT, Getzinger GJ, Rüegsegger I, Kohler H-PE, Maurer-Jones MA, Sander M, Hillmyer MA, McNeill K (2019) Photochemical transformation of poly(butylene adipate-co-terephthalate) and its effects on enzymatic hydrolyzability. Environ Sci Technol 53 (5):2472–2481. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b06458
- 64. Suzuki M, Tachibana Y, Kasuya K-I (2021) Biodegradability of poly(3-hydroxyalkanoate) and poly(ε-caprolactone) via biological carbon cycles in marine environments. Polym J 53 (1):47–66. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41428-020-00396-5
- Meereboer KW, Misra M, Mohanty AK (2020) Review of recent advances in the biodegradability of polyhydroxyalkanoate (PHA) bioplastics and their composites. Green Chem 22 (17):5519–5558. https://doi.org/10.1039/D0GC01647K
- 66. Béguin P, Aubert J-P (1994) The biological degradation of cellulose. FEMS Microbiol Rev 13 (1):25–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/0168-6445(94)90099-X
- Meyer-Cifuentes IE, Werner J, Jehmlich N, Will SE, Neumann-Schaal M, Öztürk B (2020) Synergistic biodegradation of aromatic-aliphatic copolyester plastic by a marine microbial consortium. Nat Commun 11(1):5790. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-19583-2
- Zumstein MT, Narayan R, Kohler H-PE, McNeill K, Sander M (2019) Dos and do nots when assessing the biodegradation of plastics. Environ Sci Technol 53(17):9967–9969. https://doi. org/10.1021/acs.est.9b04513
- Eubeler JP, Zok S, Bernhard M, Knepper TP (2009) Environmental biodegradation of synthetic polymers I. Test methodologies and procedures. Trends Anal Chem 28(9):1057– 1072. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2009.06.007
- 70. Zettler ER, Mincer TJ, Amaral-Zettler LA (2013) Life in the "plastisphere": microbial communities on plastic marine debris. Environ Sci Technol 47(13):7137–7146
- 71. Zettler ER, Mincer TJ, Amaral-Zettler LA (2013) Life in the "plastisphere": microbial communities on plastic marine debris. Environ Sci Technol 47(13):7137–7146. https://doi. org/10.1021/es401288x
- Harrison JP, Schratzberger M, Sapp M, Osborn AM (2014) Rapid bacterial colonization of low-density polyethylene microplastics in coastal sediment microcosms. BMC Microbiol 14:232. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12866-014-0232-4
- 73. Blagodatskaya E, Kuzyakov Y (2008) Mechanisms of real and apparent priming effects and their dependence on soil microbial biomass and community structure: critical review. Biol Fertil Soils 45(2):115–131. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00374-008-0334-y
- 74. Kuzyakov Y, Friedel JK, Stahr K (2000) Review of mechanisms and quantification of priming effects. Soil Biol Biochem 32(11):1485–1498. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0038-0717(00) 00084-5
- 75. Shen J, Bartha R (1997) Priming effect of glucose polymers in soil-based biodegradation tests. Soil Biol Biochem 29(8):1195–1198. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0038-0717(97)00031-X
- 76. Kijchavengkul T, Auras R, Rubino M, Ngouajio M, Thomas Fernandez R (2006) Development of an automatic laboratory-scale respirometric system to measure polymer biodegradability. Polym Test 25(8):1006–1016. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymertesting.2006.06.008
- 77. Lott C, Eich A, Makarow D, Unger B, van Eekert M, Schuman E, Reinach MS, Lasut MT, Weber M (2021) Half-life of biodegradable plastics in the marine environment depends on material, habitat, and climate zone. Front Mar Sci 8., Original Research. https://doi.org/10. 3389/fmars.2021.662074
- Lott C, Eich A, Unger B, Makarow D, Battagliarin G, Schlegel K, Lasut MT, Weber M (2020) Field and mesocosm methods to test biodegradable plastic film under marine conditions. PloS One 15(7):e0236579. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0236579
- 79. Urstadt S, Augusta J, Müller RJ, Deckwer WD (1995) Calculation of carbon balances for evaluation of the biodegradability of polymers. J Environ Polym Degrad 3(3):121–131. https:// doi.org/10.1007/BF02068463

Polymer Biodegradability 2.0: A Holistic View on Polymer Biodegradation...

- Nelson TF, Baumgartner R, Jaggi M, Bernasconi SM, Battagliarin G, Sinkel C, Künkel A, Kohler HE, McNeill K, Sander M (2022) Biodegradation of poly(butylene succinate) in soil laboratory incubations assessed by stable carbon isotope labelling. Nat Commun 13(1):5691. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-33064-8
- Nelson TF, Remke SC, Kohler HE, McNeill K, Sander M (2020) Quantification of synthetic polyesters from biodegradable mulch films in soils. Environ Sci Technol 54(1):266–275. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.9b05863
- Albertsson A-C, Báanhidi ZG, Beyer-Ericsson L-L (1978) Biodegradation of synthetic polymers. III. The liberation of 14CO2 by molds like fusarium redolens from 14C labeled pulverized high-density polyethylene. J Appl Polym Sci 22(12):3435–3447. https://doi.org/10.1002/app.1978.070221208
- Albertsson AC (1978) Biodegradation of synthetic polymers. II. A limited microbial conversion of 14C in polyethylene to 14CO2 by some soil fungi. J Appl Polym Sci 22(12):3419–3433
- 84. Sander M, Kohler HE, McNeill K (2019) Assessing the environmental transformation of nanoplastic through (13)C-labelled polymers. Nat Nanotechnol 14(4):301–303. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41565-019-0420-3. From NLM
- Wilske B, Bai M, Lindenstruth B, Bach M, Rezaie Z, Frede H-G, Breuer L (2014) Biodegradability of a polyacrylate superabsorbent in agricultural soil. Environ Sci Pollut Res 21 (16):9453–9460. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-013-2103-1
- 86. Bai M, Köstler M, Kunstmann J, Wilske B, Gattinger A, Frede HG, Breuer L (2011) Biodegradability screening of soil amendments through coupling of wavelength-scanned cavity ring-down spectroscopy to multiple dynamic chambers. Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom 25(24):3683–3689. https://doi.org/10.1002/rcm.5280
- 87. Goudriaan M, Morales VH, van der Meer MTJ, Mets A, Ndhlovu RT, van Heerwaarden J, Simon S, Heuer VB, Hinrichs KU, Niemann H (2023) A stable isotope assay with (13)Clabeled polyethylene to investigate plastic mineralization mediated by Rhodococcus ruber. Mar Pollut Bull 186:114369. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2022.114369
- Evershed RP, Crossman ZM, Bull ID, Mottram H, Dungait JAJ, Maxfield PJ, Brennand EL (2006) 13C-Labelling of lipids to investigate microbial communities in the environment. Curr Opin Biotechnol 17(1):72–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2006.01.003
- Neufeld JD, Vohra J, Dumont MG, Lueders T, Manefield M, Friedrich MW, Murrell JC (2007) DNA stable-isotope probing. Nat Protoc 2(4):860–866. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot. 2007.109
- 90. Griffin-LaHue D, Ghimire S, Yu Y, Scheenstra EJ, Miles CA, Flury M (2022) In-field degradation of soil-biodegradable plastic mulch films in a Mediterranean climate. Sci Total Environ 806:150238. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.150238
- 91. Wilde BD (2020) International and national norms on biodegradability and certification procedures. In: Catia B (ed) Handbook of biodegradable polymers. De Gruyter, pp 115–146
- 92. Ratto JA, Russo J, Allen A, Herbert J, Wirsen C (2001) Biodegradable polymers in the marine environment: a tiered approach to assessing microbial degradability. In: Biopolymers from polysaccharides and agroproteins. ACS symposium series, vol 786. American Chemical Society, pp 316–336
- 93. Lott CWM, Makarow D, Unger B, Pognani M, Tosin M, Bulete A, Jame P (2016) Marine degradation test assessment: marine degradation test of bio-based materials at mesocosm scale assessed. Work Package 5: in situ biodegradation, Deliverable 5.7. https://www. biobasedeconomy.eu/app/uploads/sites/2/2017/07/Open-BioD5.7_public-summary.pdf
- 94. Šerá J, Serbruyns L, De Wilde B, Koutný M (2020) Accelerated biodegradation testing of slowly degradable polyesters in soil. Polym Degrad Stab 171:109031. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.polymdegradstab.2019.109031
- 95. DIN, C (2023) Industrial compostable products. https://www.dincertco.de/din-certco/en/mainnavigation/products-and-services/certification-of-products/environmental-field/industrial-com postable-products/. Accessed 16 May 2023

- CERTCO, D (2023) Biodegradable in soil. https://www.dincertco.de/din-certco/en/mainnavigation/products-and-services/certification-of-products/environmental-field/biodegrad able-in-soil/. Accessed 16 May 2023
- 97. European Bioplastics (2023) Guidelines for the use of the seedling LOGO. https://docs. european-bioplastics.org/2016/publications/EUBP_Guidelines_Seedling_logo.pdf. Accessed 16 May 2023
- Austria T (2023) OK compost & seedling. https://www.tuv-at.be/green-marks/certifications/ ok-compost-seedling/. Accessed 16 May 2023
- Austria T (2023) OK biodegradable SOIL, OK biodegradable WATER & OK biodegradable MARINE. https://www.tuv-at.be/green-marks/certifications/ok-biodegradable/. Accessed 15 May 2023
- 100. Fu Y, Wu G, Bian X, Zeng J, Weng Y (2020) Biodegradation behavior of poly(butylene adipate-co-terephthalate) (PBAT), poly(lactic acid) (PLA), and their blend in freshwater with sediment. Molecules 25(17):3946
- 101. Tournier V, Duquesne S, Guillamot F, Cramail H, Taton D, Marty A, André I (2023) Enzymes' power for plastics degradation. Chem Rev 123(9):5612–5701. https://doi.org/10. 1021/acs.chemrev.2c00644
- 102. Weinberger S, Beyer R, Schuller C, Strauss J, Pellis A, Ribitsch D, Guebitz GM (2020) High throughput screening for new fungal polyester hydrolyzing enzymes. Front Microbiol 11:554. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2020.00554
- 103. Purohit J, Chattopadhyay A, Teli B (2020) Metagenomic exploration of plastic degrading microbes for biotechnological application. Curr Genomics 21(4):253–270. https://doi.org/10. 2174/1389202921999200525155711

Open Access This chapter is licensed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license and indicate if changes were made.

The images or other third party material in this chapter are included in the chapter's Creative Commons license, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the chapter's Creative Commons license and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder.

